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DECISION
MARTINEZ, Chair: This case is before the Public Employment Relations Board
(PERB or Board) on exceptions filed by the Orange County Water District (District) to a
proposed decision (attached) by aPERB administrative iawjudge (ALJ). The complaint
alleges that the District refused to participate in an agency shop election in violation of section
of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (MMBA). 1 The District asserts that an employer is
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The MMBA is codified at Government Code section 3500 et seq. All further
undesignated code sections are to the Government Code. Section 3502.5 provides, in pertinent
part:
(a) Notwithstanding Section 3502, any other provision of this
chapter, or any other law, rule, or regulation, an agency shop
agreement may be negotiated between a public agency and a
recognized public employee organization that has been recognized as
the exclusive or majority bargaining agent pursuant to reasonable
rules and regulations, ordinances, and enactments, in accordance with
this chapter. As used in this chapter, "agency shop" means an
arrangement that requires an employee, as a condition of continued
employment, either to join the recognized employee organization or

withhold its const.'.nt to the conduct of ari agency shop e~ection where the organizational
security arrangement
sought by the recognized
.
. employee organization is i.utlawful. The type of
organizational security arrangement sought by the Orange County Water District Employees
Asso~iation

(Association) is referred to by the parties as a modified agericy shop. It applies.to
'

futW'e hires> not current employees. According to the District, because the modified agency
· · shop permits current employees to "'fyee ride," it violates the very principle courts have relied
on in finding ·agency shop to be a valid form of union or .organizational security, Therefore
to pay -µie organization a service fee in an amount not to exceed the
standard initiation fee, periodic dues, and general assessments of the
organization:.
·
..

(b) In addition to the procedure prescribed in sub~ivision (a), .an
agency shop arrangement betwqenthe public agency and.a
recognized employee organization that has been recognized as the
exclusive or majority bargaining agent shall be placed in effect,
without a negotiated agreement, upon (1) a signed petition of
30 percent.of the employees in the applicable bargaining unit
requesting an agency ·shop agreement and an election to implement
an agency fee arrangement, and (2) the approval of a majority of
· employees who cast ballots and vote in a secret ballot election in
· favor ofthe·agency shop agreement, The petition may be filed only
after the recogni:t~d eJllployee organization has requested the public .
agency to negotiate on an agency shop arrangement and, begi:nn,ing
seven working·days after the public agency· received this request, the
two parties have had 30 calendar days to attempt good faith
negotiations in an effort to reach agreement. An election that may.
not be held more frequently than once a year ·shall be conducted by
the California State Mediation and Conciliation Service in the event ·
that the public agency and the recognized employee organization
cannot agree within 10 days from the .filing of the petition to select
jointly a neutral person or entity to conduct the election, In the event
of an agency fee arrangement outside of an agreement that is.in
effect, the recognized employee organization shall indemnify and
hold the. public agency harmless against any liability arising from a.
claim, demand, or other action relating to the public agency's
compliance .with the agency fee obligation.
(c) [religious objector exemption]
· (d) [agency s~op rescission election]
(e) [management employee exclusion]
(f) (financial reporting requirement]
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organizational security. Therefore argues the District, the modified agency shop is unlawful
and the District is privileged to withhold its consent to the conduct of the petitioned-for
election.
A pre-hearing conference with the ALJ was held to discuss the presentation of
evidence. The parties agreed that the issue to be decided was purely a question of law. Thus,
the parties agreed that the matter would be submitted for decision following the filing of a joint
stipulation of material facts, the filing of opening briefs, oral argument before the ALJ and the
filing of closing briefs. In addition, the District filed two requests for judicial notice. The first .
sought to introduce legislative history ·materials concerning MMBA section 3502.5 and a page
from PERB's website titled "Procedures for mandated agency shop elections;" the second,
federal district court attorney's.fees orders. The ALJ granted both requests.
The ALJ issued her decision on February 26, 2015, concluding that the District violated
MMBA section 3502.5 when it .refused to participate in a properly petitioned-for
agency shop
.
election. The proposed decision also concluded that the District failed to assert a valid defense
to its actions. The District timely filed a statement of exceptiohs, and the.Association timely
filed a response.
The Board has reviewed the hearing record in its entirety, including the joint stipulation
of material facts, the opening and closing briefs, the transcript of the oral argument and the
judicially or officially noticed materials. The Board has considered the'issues on appeal raised.
by the District in its statement of exceptions and by the Association in its response thereto, in
light of the applicable law. Based on this review, the Board conclude~ thatthe proposeddecision is adequately supported by the evidentiary record, well-reasoned and consistent with
all relevant legal principles. We find no merit in the District's exceptions. Accordingly, the
Board hereby affirms in full the conclusion reached in the proposed decision that the modified
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agency shop petitioned for by the Association is lawful and the District violated the MMBA
when it refused to participate in the properly petitioned-for election. The Board adopts the
proposed decision, including its procedural history, statement of jurisdicti.on, findings of fact,
identification of issue, conclusions of law, remedy, proposed order and Notice, as the decision
of the Board itself as supplemented by a discussion of the District's exceptions .
.FACTUAL SUMMARY
The essential stipulated material fa;cts on which the ALJ based her decision are as
follows: In May 2011, the Association proposed a modified agency shop in the course of
succl'.ssor agreem.ent negotiations. The proposed agency shop arrangement would apply to all
new District employees hired on or after a future date whereas current employees would be
exempt. In or about July 2012, the Association made a second attempt to reach agreement with
the District, requesting that the District reopen the parties' labor contract to negotiate over the
Association's modified agency shop proposal. The District rejected each attempt, asserting
that the proposed modified agency shop is not authorized under MMBA section 3502.5
because it applies only to new hires.
On or about November 14, 2012, the Association served the District and the State
Mediation and Conciliation Service (SMCS) with a "Petition [and] Request for Agency Shop
Election" (Petition), stating that no confidential or management emplOyees were included in
the bargaining unit and that the Petition was signed by approximately. 98 percent of unit

m~mbers, 2 The Petition provides:
We, the undersigned employees of the Orange County Water
District represented by the Orange County Employees
Association, hereby request a Modified Agency Shop Agreement
2

There are 184 employees in the bargaining unit represented by the Association. Of
that total, 126 are dues-paying members. The Petition bears the signature of 125 bargaining
unit employees. It appears that approximately 98 percent of union members, not unit
members, signed the Petition.
4

other applicable laws or regul~tions. Pursuant to the Modified
A~ency Shop Agreement and Arrangement, all employees hired
on or after March i, 2013, will be required to join as members
[of] the Orange County Employees Association or pay to the
Orange County Employees Association a "service fee" as set
· forth in Government Code Section 3502.S (a), et seq. All
employees .hired prior to March 1, 2013 are specifically excluded
from the Modified Agency Shop Agreement and Arrangement.
(Bold in the original.)
SMCS contacted the District, in an e-mail received by the Director of Hwnan
Resources, to request a meeting to discuss the mechanics of the election. The District's kgal
counsel responded, requesting a postponement of the meeting, raising the issue whether SMCS
had the authority to conduct an election for the proposed modified: agency shop. SMCS
info.rmed the District that .it did not have the authority under the M~BA to rule on the legality
of a proposed
agency fee arrangement, but that it was available to check the level of support
~
'

,I

.,

'

and, if sufficient, condu~t an election.
'After receiving further direction from the District's governing board, the District's legal
counsel informed SMCS that it would not consent to an election for the petitioned·for modifie.d
'.

agency shop. '.fhe District reasserted it~ position that an agency shop arrangement is
permissible only if it applies to all bargaining unit ymployees.
'

PROPOSED DECISION3
."

Harmonizing MMBA section 3502.S with PERB .Regulation 329994 in light of the
purpose'ofthe statutory amendment to allow for agency shop elections, the ALJ determined

3 For

the convenience of the reader, a summary of the proposed.decision is provided in
the body of the Board's decision. This summary is no substitute for reading the proposed
decision itself, which contains PERB's first analysis of the novel'issue presented, an analysis .
endors¥d by the Board..
·
4 PERB

regulations are codified ·at California Code of Regulations, title 8,
section 31001 et seq. PERB Regulation 32999 provides:
5

that the regulatory requirement that the public agency employer "consent" to an election
cannot be interpreted to me.an that the public agency employer's participation in an agency
. shop election is "voluntary," as the District argued. As the ALJ stated:
In essence, the District argues that it may lawfully prevent an
agency shop .election by refusing to participate in the SMCS
process to determine the time, place and manner of the election.
If true, this would defeat the entire purpose for which Senate
Bill 739 was adppted-to eliminate the employer's ability to
unilaterally prevent the conduct of an agency shop election. Such
an interpretation eviscerates the statutory right of an employee
organization to permit employees to choose whether to enact an
agency shop. On this basis alone, the District's interpretation of
PERB regulations must be rejected.
(Proposed decision, p. 19, italics in the original.)
. The District defended its actions before the ALJ o.n several grounds. The District
argued that the Association's petitioned-for modified.agency shop is unlawful because it
violates the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. The District also argued that
because the petitioned~for modified agency shop does not apply to a~l bargaining unit
emplo;yees and therefore does not serve· the purpose of preventing all bargaining unit
employees fro~ becoming free riders, it does. not fit the statutory definition of.an agency shop.
,.

The District also argued that the indemnity provision tinder MMBA section 3502.5, ·

(a) The provisions of this Article are applicable whenever SMCS
conducts representation and agency shop elections pursuant to the local
rules of an MMBA, Trial Court Act or Court Interpreter Act employer.
'
'
.
(b) SMCS shall conduct such elections only pursuant to a Consent
Election Agreement entered into by all parties and SMCS. The term
"Consent Election Agreement" means either an agreement by the parties
as to the time, place and manner of an election, or an agreement by the
parties that authorizes the election .supervisor·assigned by SMCS to
·determine the time, place and·manner of the election.
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subdivision (b), 5 is inadequate protection against pot~ntial employer liability arising.out of
age~cy

fee litigation. The ALJ correctly rejected each of the District's arguments,
Regarding the Distrfot's First Amendment argument; as the ALJ'reasoned, under

current United States Supreme Court· law, age~oy shop arrangements are permitted in public
sector employment. (Abood.v. Detr.ott Board of Education (1977) 431U.S.209 (Abood).)
Although recent Supreme' Court opinions have bee!). critical of public sector agency shop
arrangements, the Supreme Court to date has not found the agency shop unconstitutional on
any ground, including the First Amendment. (See Pamela Harris, et al. v. Pat Quinn,

Governor of Illinois, et al. (2014) 134 S.Ct. 2618 (Harris); Diane Knox, et al. v. Service
Employees1nter.national Union, Local 1000 (2012) 132 S.Ct. 2277 (Knox.).).
Regarding the District's statutory argument, the ALJ appropriately took guidance frol!1
federal private secto~ law in concluding that nothing in. the language of'MMBA section 3502.5
expressly disallows the type of agency shop ~o.ught by the Association: Regarding the
argtlment that agency fee litigation could expose the District to liability far in excess of the
Ass.ociation's financial wherewithal~ the ALJ c~ncluded'that notwithstanding the speculative
nature of'the' District's assertion, the statute's explicit indemnification provision precludt!S the
District from raising its concern about potential liability as a defense to its refusal to participate
in the petitioned~for agency shop election. Such concerns, as the ALJ appropriately noted,
should be directed to, and addressed by, the Legislature. ·Finally, the ALJ stated that to the

5 The statutory indel1ll1ity provision states:

In the event of an agency fee arrangement outside of an
agreement that is in effect, the recognized employee organization
shall indemnify and hold the public agency )lannless against any
liability arising from a claim, demand, or other action relating to
. the public agency's compliance with the ~gency fe~ obligation.
(MMBA, § 3502.5, subd. (b).)
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extent the District is attempting to assert the rights of bargaining W1it employees .who woulq be
required to pay an agency fee under the modified agency shop, such argument must be rejected
for lack of standing.
To remedy the District's violation ofMMBA section 3502,5, the ALJ ordered the
· District to cease and desist from refusing to participate in the properly petitioned-for agen~y
shop election. The ALJ also ordered the District to, within 10 days of service of a final
'

decision, enter into a "Consent Election Agreement" (CEA) with the Association or authorize
the SMCS to prepare a CEA governing the mechanics of said election,
THE DISTRICT'S EXCEPTIONS

. On appeal, the District makes many of the same arguments it made before the ALJ,
The Di.strict argues that MMBA section.3502.5 is clear in its purpose to prevent free riders.
According to the District, a m~dified agency shop encourages free riders and therefore is in
.

'

direct conflict with the statute. The District contends that after. Knox and Har.rts, "modified
agency shops cannot stand in the face of United States Supreme Court evolving First
Amendment jurisprudence." .
The District's exceptions to the proposed decision total 90. There are 72 exceptions to'
statements of rationale and 18 exceptions to conclusions of law. Pages 23 through 31 of the
HRespondent's Statement of Exceptions and Supporting Brief' (Appeal) is c~pied, almost
verbatim> from page.s 5 through 13 of the District's opening brief to the ALJ; ·and pages 31
thr~ugh

37 of the District's Appeal is copied, with minor variation, from various sections of

the District's opening and closing briefs to the ALJ. It is not until page 38 that the Appe~
specifically identifies how the ALJ erred, The District states:
The ALJ fails to identify in its rationale (PD pp,· 6-22), any
auth9rity under California law or federal law which expressly
authorizes or approves an agency shop which exempts current
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employees in the bargaining unit, and which only applies to
newly hired employees after a future date.
The District's substantive exceptions are identified and addressed in the discussion pelow .
.DISCUSSION
Despite the surplus of exceptions, this case boils down to a relatively straightforward
question of law, a ~uestion of law that was comprehensively explored and. rationally and
reasonably decided by the ALJ. Moreover, many of the District's argume~ts contained in the
Appeal were already made to the ALJ in briefing and oral argument, and were already
addressed by the ALJ in th~ proposed decision with which the Board agrees. ·
While it is true that the ALJ did not identify "any authority under California or federal
law {b.at expressly authorizes or approves'' the petitioned for modified agency shop
.

.

'

arrangement, it is also true the District has not identified any authority under .California or
.

.

'

federal law that expressly invalidates or disapproves such arrangement. 6 As the District knows
from the Association's briefing below, there appears to be only one authority that directly
addresses the validity of a modified agency shop, which the ALJ chose not to rely on. That
authority is California Attom~y General. Opinion No. 02~309, iss~ed on September 24, 2003.
It concerns an MMBA employer like the· District, ~d it found t.hat a modified agency shop~
such as.the one contemplated here, falls within the scope of MMBA section 3502.5.
(86 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 169 (2003).) The issue was whether an agency shop election coulq be·
·6 I~

a version of this same argument, the District argues that the case~ relied on in the
proposed decision do not support the proppsition that a modified agency shop is lawful. (:ity
ofHayward, et al. v. Untteif Public Employees, Local 390, Servtce Employees International
Union. AFL-CIO (1976) 54 Cal.App.3d 761, 768 (City of Hayward) nor Rae, et al. v. Bay Area
Rapid Transit Supervisory and Professional Assn, et al. (1980) 114 Cal.App.3d 147i 153 were
relied on in the proposed decision, but not as direct authority for the ultiD;late conclusion
reached that a modified agency· shop is lawful. Rather, these cases were cited for their
historical value and for the general proposition that agency shop in the public sector is the
practical equivalent of union shop in the private sector, As acknowledged at the outset of the
proposed decision, the issue presented in this case is a: novel issue of fir'st impression. That, by
definition, means th~t there is no case authority directly on point.
.

.
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conducted during the term of an existing memorandum of understanding containing a modified
agency shop provision. The Attorney General concluded that su~h an election could be .
conducted if the current agency shop provision is first rescinded by the employees or removed
from the agreement by negotiations. In reaching this conclusion, the Attorney General had to
determine as a threshold matter whether the current mod.ified agency shop provision met the
statutory definition of agency shop, After first defining .a modi:fi~d agency shop provision as
an '~agency shop provision that excludes employees hired before. a specified date~' and
'

'

· ·examining the language of MMBA section 3502.5, the opinion states: .
Applying these principles of statutory ~onstroction, we first note
that a "modified" agency shop provision comes wi.thin the terms of
secti~n 3502.5, meeting the definit~on contained subdivision (a)
of Han. arrangement that requires an employee, as a condition of
continued employment,· either to join the recognized employee
organization; or to pay the ·organization a service fee .... " (Italics
added.) Not all employees are required to join th~ union 9r pay a
service fee under the statute. For example, employees are to be
excluded if they object to union membership based upon religious
grounds(§ 3502.5, subd. (c)) ....

in

(86 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen, supra, slip opn,., p. 4, italics in the original.)7

.7 Opinions of the Attorney General are not binding, but are entitled to considerable

weight by the' courts. (.Courity of Orange v. Association of Orange County Deputy Sheriffs
· (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 21, 36~37.) As County of Orange stated.:
"Reliance on Attorney General opinions is particularly appropriate
.where, as here,, no clear case authority exists, and the faqtual context of
the opinions is closely parallel 'to that under review." (Thorpe v. Long
Beach C,ommunity College Dist. (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 655, 662-663,
99 Cal.Rptr.2d 897.) There is no cleat case authority on this issue, and
the 1982 opinion has a similar factual context involving the state's
analogous debt limitation provision. We find the analysis in the 1982
opinion persuasive, and that analysis. supports the conclusion that a
UAAL such as the $100 million cited by the Coilnty in this case is an
actuarial estimate projecting the impact of a change in a benefit plan,
rather than a l'egally enforceable obligation measured at the time of the
County's 2001 resolution approving the 3% at 50 formula.
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Although PERB is not bound by the analysis or outcome expressed in the Attorney ·
General opinion, it is at least of note that the only existing authority addressing the validity of
modified agency ~hop provides no support for ihe District's 'position. Although the ALJ did'
not rely on ~is Attomey General opinion, she reached th~ same result by .a careful exmninati.on
ofMMBA section 3502.S's language and purpose, the regulatory scheme and relevant private
sector and PERB precedent. Interpretation of the statutory schemes administered by PERB
draws on PERB'sjudicially~recognized expertise in the area of California publi? sector labor
law. (See, e.g., Banning Teachers Association v. PERB (1988) 44 Cal.3d 799, 804.)
Along with its statement of exceptions, the District made two procedural requests, one
for otal argument and another for judicial notice.. Regarding the District's request for oral
fl!gument, which the Association opposes, the Board historically denies requests for oral
argument when an adequate 'record has been prepared; the parties had ample 'opportunity to
'

'

present briefs and have availed themselves of that opportunity, and the issues before the Board
are sufficiently clear to make oral argument unnecessary. (Antelope Valley Health Care District
(2006)
PERB Decision No.
.

1816~M;Monterey

County Office ofEducation (1991) PERB
'

'

Decision No. 913.) Here, the material facts are not in dispute. They, in fact, were stipulated to.
The.legal issue, while novel, is cl~ar and stn;dghtforward. The parties have submitted three ..
'

'

sets of briefs, two to the ALJ and one to the Board. The parties presented oral atgument to the
ALJ, the transcript of which has been reviewed by the Board. Accordingly, the District's
request for oral argument is denied, . The District's repetition of significant portions of its
written argument before'the ALJ in its Appeal to the Board confirms that there is a limit on.
how much can be said, and that no further argument, whether written or oral,

is necessary.

Regarding the District's request for judicial notice, the District requests judicial notice
of the same materials that were the subject of the District's request for judicial notice directed
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to the ALJ. The ALJ granted
both requests, The ALJ's rulings were. not excepted
.
. to, and we
do not disturb them here. 8

I.

MMBA Section 3S02.5

The MMBA itself did not explicitly authorize agency shop agreements until 198.l when
MMBA section 3502;5 was enacted. Under the original version ofMMBA section 3502.5,
agency shop could only be adopted by mutual consent of the parties. Almost 20 years later, in
2000, the Legislature amended MMBA section 3 502.5 with Senate Bill 739 (Stats. 2000,

ch. 90 I, § 3) to authorize agency shop by a negotiated agreement as well as by a secret ballot
election at the option of the exclusive representative:· As acknowledged l?y both the supporters·
and opponents of the amendment, the amendment was intended to reduce the public agency
employer's control over the decision whether .to adopt agency shop. With the amendment,
public agency employers could no longer prevent an agency shop from being adopted in the
absence 'of a mutual agreement. . Instead, where the exclusive representative desires agency
shop and cannot reach agreement with the public agency employer to incorporate an agency
shop provision into the parties' labor contract~ a simpl~ voting majority can override that
sta~emate

by voting agency shop into effect. A bargaining unit majority can also vote agency

shop out of effect through a rescission ~lection. (MMBA, § 3502.5, subd. (d).) In other words,
in the absence of a mut:ual agreement, the dectston whether to be governed by agency shop is
decided by employees, and employees alone.
Under the current version ofMMBA section 3502.5, the exclusive representative rn.ust
make.a good faith attempt in negotiatio~s to include an agency shop provision in the parties' .
labor contract, as the Association has done here. If unsuccessful, an agency shop arrangement
"shall be placed in effecf' without a negotiated agreement upon the satisfaction of two

.8 An

exception not urged is waived. (PERB Reg. 32300, 'subd.. (c).) ·
12

conditions: (1) a signed petition of at least 30 percent of bargaining unit employees requesting ·
an election to imple:ment an agency shop arrangement; and (2) the approval of a majority of
employees who voted in the election. ''An election .. , shall be conducted by [SMCS] in the
event_ that the public agency and the recognized employee organization canno~ agree within
10 days from the filing of the petition to select jointly a neutral person or entity to c~i:iduct the
election," (§ 3502,.5, subd. (b), emphasis supplied.)
PE;RB Regulation 32999, subdivision (b), provides that SMCS shall conduct such an
election pursuant to a CEA entered into by the pl3.!ties and SMCS. A CEA means one of two
things: (1) an agre.ement by the parties as to the time, place and manner of an election; or
(2) an agreement by the. parties au~orizing the SMCS election supervisor to determine the
time, place and _manner of the election.
II.

The Meaning and Purpose of the Statutory and Regulatory Scheme
A, The Statutory Meaning of Agency Shop

Tue District .relies on City of Hayward, suprar 54 Cal.App.3d
761 for the propositiqn
.
that "a court may not add

or detract from a statute or insert or delete words to accomplish a

purpose that does not appear on its face or from its legislative history.'' (Id. at p. 766.) Th.e
District argues that MMBA section 3502.5 applies only to full agency shop and that the ALJ
•

I

'

I

erred by re~writing the statute to include modified agency shop.
In construing any statute, ''[w]ellwestablished rules of statutory construction require us
to ascertain the intent of the enacting legislative body so that we may adopt the construction
that best effectuates the purpose
of the law." (Hassan v. Mercy American River Hospital
.
.
(2003) 31 Cal.4th 709, 715'.)
"We first examine the words themselves because the statutory
language is generally the most reliable ind~cator of legislative intent.
[Citation.] The words of the statute should be given their ordinary and
. usual meaning and should be construed in their statutory context."
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(Ibid.) If the statutory language is unambiguous, "we presume the
Legislature meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute
governs." (People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106, 1111,
99 Cal.Rptr.2d 120, 5 P.3d 176,)
(Whaley.v, Sony Computer Entertainment America, Inc .. (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 479, 485.)
MMBA section 3502,5 refers neither to full agency shop nor modified:agency shop. It
simply refers to agency shop or agency fee agreement or arrangement. The District argues that
agency shop must refer to an agreement or arrangement that obligates all employees to pay
.

'

dues or fees. But the language in question merely refers to an arrangement "that requires an
employee, as a condition of c'ontinued employment, either to join the reco$nized' employee
organization or to pay the organization' a service fee ...." The statute does hot refer to "all"
'

employees, just "an" ~mployee. 9
Compelling payment of agency fees as a. condition of continued employment is all that
the statute dictates. The particular terms and conditions of the agency shop arrangement are
left to the exclusive representative to propose and negotiate with the employer Q!: to the
bargaining unit employees to vote on. If the bargaining unit employees do not.like the
exclusive representative's P,roposal, they can vote it down. Also, under MMBA
section 3502.5, subdivision (d) 1 W1, agency shop may be rescinded by a majority vote of all
employees in the bargaining unit at any time during "the term of the labor contract; Thus,
despite. the District's contention to the contrary~ a modified agency shop that applies.only to
newly-hired employees in nq way disenfranchises them from petitioning for, and participating
in, a resCission election under section 350~.5, subdivision (d).

9 The

District points out that City of Hayward, supra, 54 Cal.App.3d 761 uses the word
".all" to modify "employees" in describing employees subject to agency shop, That full agency .
shop applies to "all" bargaining unit employees does not mt?an that lesser forms of union or
organizational security, like modified agency shop; are unlawful. As 'the D~strict points out,
judicial opinions are not authority for propositions not considered. (Loeffler v. Target Corp.
(2014) 58 Cal.4th 1081, 1134.)
·
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Although future hires cannot vote in an election to adopt modified agency shop, they
also cannot vote in an election to adopt a full agency shop .. At the time of the election for ·
. either form of agency shop, they have yet to be hired. As a general matter, future hires are
bound by the terms and conditions of employinent existing at their time of hire. ·Their
prospective satisfaction or·dissatisfaction with a~ency·shop, whether modified or full, is not i;i

st~tutory c~~sideration, 10 Under the plain meaning of the statute, there is no basis on which to
conclude that MM~A section 3502.5's definition of agency shop does not ~nclude the modified
'

'

agency shop arrangement petitione~ for by the Association,
The District is corr<?ct that agency shop addresses the problem of free riders. But the
'

'

. 2000 amendment to MMBA section 3502.5 was intended by the Legislature to address a
different problem, That problem was the _unwillingness or refusal of some public agency
employers to incorporate an agency shop provis:ion ipto their labor contract by mutual
agreement. As mentioned above, the 2000 amendment to MMBA section 3502.5 took.the
decision whether ~o adopt agency shop out of the hands of public.agency employers and placed
it squarely and firmly in the hands pf bargaining unit employees. The District's position in this
case is at odds with the purpose of that amendment. Under the o~dinary rules of statutory
construction, a construction of the statute that allows bargaining unit employees, rather ih;an
public agency employers, to decide whether to adopt an~ form of agency shop best effe~tuates
the purpose of the statute. 11
'

'

°

1

Future hites are not covered wifuin. the definition o{public employee under the
MMBA. (§ 3501, subd, (d) ["'[p]ublic employee' means any person employed by any public
agency, ... ''].)
·
11

As the United States Supreme Court recently concluded hi rejecting a construction of
the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act that likely would have the effect of creating
~eath spirals in individual insurance markets; a result Congress designed the Act to avoid:
.
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· B. The District Lacks Authority to Withhold its Consent to the Election
The District argues that the ALJ erred in harmonizing PERB Regulation 32999 with
MMBA section 3502.5 to conclude that the District lacks authority to withhold its consent to
. .
.
the election. The District a~serts that PBRB Regulation 32999 "clearly and unmistakably"
requires the public agency. employer's consent to
'~The

an agency shop election.

The District states:

District, as an MMB~ employer, must consent to an agency shop election for it to·

occur."
. PERB Regulation 32999 states.that SMCS shall cqnduct elections pursuant to a CEA.
But, under the regulation, the public agency employer has only two options. It may enter into
.an agreement with the exclusive representative as to the time, place ari:d manner of an election.
Or, it may enter into ~agreement with the exclusive representative authorizing the SMCS
election supervisor to determine the time, place and manner of the election. The "consent"
required of the public agency employer under the regulation concerns the manner' of
determining election mechanics. Requiring the public agency employer to consent to one or
another manner of determining election mechanics.does not transiate into abroad power to
refuse to participate in the election itself.
The District's construction of PERB Regwation 32999 would defeat the very purpose
of the 2000 amendment.to MMBA section 3502.5,. which was to disempower public agency
empIOyers from determining the fate of agency.shop for a bargaining unit. The District's
construction would also directly contradict the statute's command that all' agency shop "shall

Congress. passed the Affordable Care Act to improve health
insurance markets, not destroy them. If at all possible, we must
interpret the Act in away that is consistent with the fonner, and
avoids the latter. Section 36B can fairly be read consistent with
·what we see as.Congress's plan, and that is the reading we adopt.

(King v. Burwell (2015) 135 S.Ct, 2480, 2496.)
·16
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'

be placed in effect'' without a negotiated agree~ent u~on the satisfaction of only two ·
conditions, a signed petition of 30 percent of bargaining unit employees and tlie approval of a
·majority of employees casting ballots. In the event the parties cannot agree to a neutral .Person
or e:ritity t9 conduct the. election, the election "shall be conducted'' by SMCS. (§ 3502.5,
subd. (b).) There is no· further requirement that the public agency employer "consent to an
agency shop election for' it to occur'' and we will ~ot interpret our regulations to defeat the
Legislature's clear intent,
The District asserts that PERB Regulation 32999 "is designed to avoid the absurdity of
being forced to participate ~nan agency shop election that is unlawful." No reading of PERB
Re'gulation 32999 supports tha~ assertion. In' the event a future hire who becomes an agency
'
.
fee payer under the.petitioned~for modified age.ncy shop disagrees with the Association's
determination ofchargeable expenditures, that person may file an agency fee challeng<?;
'

(PERB Reg. 32994.) A public agency employer does not have standing to challenge that ·
determination. (Ibid.) To the extent a public agency employer is concerned about its own
"liability for participating in an agency shop found to be unlawful, MMBA seqtion 3502.5
. · allows the employer to' be held ~armless and to seek'. indemnity from the exclusive
representative. (§ 3502.5, subd. (b).)
The District claims that this statutory indemnification and hold harmless provision is
inadequate because employee organizations lack adequate resources tci fulfill their' statuto~
obligations; Public agency employers such as the District may appeal to the Legislature to
address such concerns. 12

12

Artlcle Ill, section 3 of the California Constitution contains the separation of powers
clause, It precludes one branch of government from usurping or improperly interfering with
the essential operations of either of the other two' branches. (7 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law
(10th e.d. 2005} Constitutional Law,§ 137, p. 249.)
.
.
.
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The Petition was signed by at least 30 ·percent of empfoyees in the bargaining unit, thus
meeting the threshold statutory requirement.. That .these bargaining unit employees would be
exempt from compulsory dues/fees obligations under the petitioned-for modified agency shop.
does not give the District license to deprive them and their fellow bargaining unit members of
their statutory right to vote, The District's position in this case is premised in part on the
notion that bargaining unit employees, if given th~ choice, would rather ride free than
financially support the recognized employee organization that rep~esents them ~n collective
.bargaining._ The fac~s do not support the District's position. With no compulsory dues system
curr~ntl!

in place, 126 out of 184 bargaining unit employees, or 68 percent of the bargaining

unit, have become 4ues-paying members of the Association of their own free will. The
District's
alleged concern about the
.
. problem of free riders is overstated at best, and not shared
.

by the Association, the party that would-be most directly affected by the problem of free riders.
· In sum, as the ALJ conc~uded, the specific intent of the 2000 amendment to MMBA
section ·3502.5, which allowed bargaining unit employees to determine for themselves whether
to approve an agency shop by way of a; secret ballot election, was to limit the public agency·
employer's sphere of decision-making to selection of a neutral to conduct the election.
Pursuant to PERB Regulation 32999, the public agency employer's options are to enter into an
agreement with the exclusiv.e representative as to the time, place and manner of the election or
agree with the exclusive representative to allow SMCS to determine election mechanics. We
therefore decline _the District's invitation to adopt an interpretation of MMBA section 3502.5
that would empower the District to undermine fundamental principles of organizational
security and majority vote by refusing to participate in a secret ballot election provided to the
bargaining unit by the Legislature. Accordingly, the District's stat-utory construction argument

· is rejected.
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Ill, · The First Amendment13

.The District relies on Harris and Knox to. argue that a modified agency shop implicates
First Amendment concerns.· Agency shop arrangements in the public sector raise First
Amendment concerns ~~because they force individuals to .contrib_ute money to unions as a
condition of government employment.ii (Davenport v. Washington Education Association
(2007) 551U.S.177, 181.) Under Aboodi supra, 431U.S.209, however, the Un,ited States
Supreme· Court held tliat bargainin~ unit members. i~ the public sector can be compelled to pay
agency fees (also referred to as financial core fees) to the union for the cost of performing the
representational quties of an exclusive representative. But, publi~ sector unions are prohibited
under the First Amendment from using the fees of objecting nonmembers for ideolqgical
purposes that are not germane to the union's collective bargaining duties.

(Id.' at pp. 235 ..236.)

And, under Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson (1986) 475 U.S. 292, 302, 304..-310 (Hudson),
public sector unions· collecting fees must observe certain procedural requirements in order to
ensure that objecting nonmembers can prevent the use of their fees for impermissible
purposes. The Supreme Court in Knox and Harris declined to revisit Abood, but expressed·
criticism of its fundamental prerrii~e, i.e., that an agency fee payment can be c.ompelled under
an organizational security provision' without infringing on the First A~endment~

~ 3 An°administrative agency has no power to declare a statute unconstitutional.·

(Cal. Const., art. III,§ 3~5, subd. (b).) Neither can an administrative agency declare ij statute
enforceable, or refuse to enforce it, on the. grounds that it is unconsti~ution~l unless it
previously has been detemiined to be unconstitutio~l by an appellate court, (Cal. Const., .
art. III, § 3.5, subd. (a).) Article III, section 3.5 of the California Constitution does not prevent
]?ERB from construing the statutory schemes it administers "in light of constitutional
standards." (See, Cumero v. PERB (1989) 49 Cal.3d 575, 583.)
·
No court has declared MMBA section 3502.5 to be unconstitutional and therefore this
agency is duty bound to enforce it. The· District may disagree with PERB's construction of the
statute, but cannot argue that PERB is constrained from applying or enforcing it based on a
litigant's assertion of its unconstitutionality.
19

The United States Supreme Court granted writ of certiorari in Friedrichs, et al. v.

California Teacher-s A's~ociation, et al. (2015) 135 S.Ct. 2933, a case in which the petitioners
seek to persuade the S'qpre:rne Court to overturn Abood and invalidate agency shop
arrangements in the publi~ sector on First.Amendment grounds. That case is on the docket for
the Supreme Court's 2015 term. Unless and until the high court decides otherwise, however,

Abood is the law of the land. 14 The "compulsory" nature of Etgency shop does not, under
current law, viohite the First Amendment.
.

.

The District's First Amendment argument is inconsistent with its position that a "full"
.

.

'

agency shop covering both current employees and future hires would be acpeptable,' The First

•

I

'

I,

Amendllient interest the District seeks to protect as it affects future hires is no different under
modified agency shop than it is under full agency shop. PaJ'ment of an agency fee would be
compulsory
for future hires under either
form of organizational security. It is the compulsory
.
.
.
nature of the fee payment ·that lies at the heart of the First Amendment concern (Knox; Harris), .
not the scope of the particular agency shop arrangement determined by the exclusive
representative to best suit its needs. As one court described the First Amendment infringement.
concern under United Stat~s Supreme Court authorities:
The distinction between permissible and impermissible union
security devices is not.measured by whether additional employees
are compelled to pay fees to tl;le union, but by whether those fees .
which employees are compelled to pay are used to subsidize only

PERB, supra, 49 Cal.3~ 575 (the provisions for organizational
secl.Jrity arrangements under the Educational Employment Relations Act, section 3540 et seq.,
prevail over nonmembers' more· general right to refuse to participate in activities of employee
organizations); Champion v. State o/California (9th Cir: 1984) 738 F.2d 1082 (in a challenge
to the constitutionality of the organizational security provision under the State Employer"
Employee Relations Act (the Ralph C. Dills Act), section 3512 et seq., district court's denial of
a motion for preliminary injunction seeking to restrain the deduction and collection of a
portion of employees' wages as fair' share fees was affirmed).
14 See also,.Cumero v.
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the union 7 s collective ~argaining activities or are ~dditionally
used to fund activities of the union that are political and
ideological in nature,

(Zortca, et al. v. AFSCME (Pa. qommw. Ct. 1996) 686 A.2d 461, 464.)

.

'

In sum, the petitioned~for modified agency shop raises no First Amendment concerns .
. under Knox or Harris, as the District contends. The District's approval of full agency shop
·belies its First Amendment concern.
IV.,

The District's Standing

The District argues that the ALJ erred in concluding that the District lacks standing to
assert the interests ofbargitining unit employees who would be required to pay an agency fee
under the petitioned"for modified agency shop, We agree With the ALJ.
Under th~ plmn m~aning ofMMBA section 3502.'5, the District has ultimate control
I

over a finite number of matters. The District has the right not to use the SMCS in favor of a · ,
'

.

different, mutually agreedwto neutral. {§ 3502,5, ·SUbd. (b).) Under the statute's promulgating
regulation, the District has the right to authorize the SMCS election supervisor to determine the
time, place and manner of the. election rather than ~eeking agreement with the exclusive
representative over election mechanics. (PERB Reg. 32999.) The District has standing to
assert these rights.
The Dist~ict does not, however, have standing to cont~st the validity' of the particular
type of agency shop arrangement sought by the Association as a defense to an unfair practice
charge alleging that it is .refusing to participate in the el~tion process. 1 ~ To the extent of any

15

Once an agency fee arrangement is placed into effect by agreement of the parties or
by the results of an election under MMBA section 3502.5, public employees have the right to
authorize that payroll deductions be made for this purpose(§ 3508.5, subd. (a)) and.public
agency employers "shall deduct the payment of dues or service fees to a recognized employee
organization.'~ (§ 3508,5, subd. (b), emphasis supplied.) Agency fee obligations, including
payroll deductions made by the public agency employer "on behalf of the recognized employee
organization, shall continue in effect as long as the employee organization is the recognized
21

invalidity in the agency'shop arrangement, as stated above, the bargaining unit employees'
remedy against the exclusive representative is an agency fee ch.allenge, 16 and the public agency
employer's remedy is the statutory indemnification and hold harmless provision .. The statutory
I

and regulatory scheme adequately,protects the interests of all parties - the public agency .
employer, the bargaining unit public employees.and the recognized employee organization,

.

.

In support of its standing argwnent, the Di~trict states the following:
[T]he District has the authority under PERB Reg. 32999 to
withhold consent from.an election.that is unlawful. For example, .
the District would be justified in withholding consent to an
election for a modified agency shop which had the purp()se of
requiring the payment of union dues or agency fees to. all future
. employees except .women, .African American, Hispanics, the
physically handicapped, etc.·
·
(Appeal, p. 54.)
In referring to "women; African AJnerican, Hispanics, the physically handicapped,.

etc~," the District appears to be expressing
a concern about the potential for
.
. discrimination by
the exclusive representative ag~inst bargainiµg unit employees who belong to a class that
enjoys protecte4 status under anti~discrimination laws, There are at least two problems with
this argument.
.

.

· First, the Dis~ct' s argument is premised on a faulty notion. h1 the event a recognized
employee organization were to memorialize in a petition for agency fees its intention to
discriminate against bargaining Unit employees o~ the basis ·of their ~embership in a protected

bargaining representative, notwithstanding
(§ 3508,5, subd .. (c), emphasis supplied,)
16

the expiration of' the parties' labor.contract.

an

Only an employee who pays agency fee has standing to challenge the employee
organizations' retention of that fee. (California Nurses AsiYociation (0 'Malley) (2004) PERB
DeCisiori No. 1607~H.)
·
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class, the California _Legislature has provided the method for redress under the state's anti. discrimination laws. Under the Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA), it is unlawful:
For a labor organization, because of the race, religious creed, color,
national origin, ancestry, physical disability,' mental disability,
medical condition, genetic information, marital status, ·sex, gender,
gender identity, gender expression, age, sexual orientation~ or
military and veteran status of ~y person, to exClude, expel, or
restrict from its membership the person, or to provide only secondclass or segregated membership or to discriminate against any
person because of the race, religious creed, ·color;national origin,
ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition,
genetic information, marital status, sex, gender, gender identity,
gender expression, age, sexual orientation, or 1I1ilitary and veterim
status of the person in the election of officers of the labor
organization or in the selection of the labor organization's staff or
. to discriminate in any way_ against any of its members or against
any employer or against any person employed by.an employer.
(§ 12940, subd. (b).) 17

Second, the District assumes that a recognized employee organiz.ation is prohibit.ed from
making distinctions amongst bargaining unit employees in its organizational securhy
arrangements. While there is no PERB precedent on this point, there are countless private sector

17 PEHA is codified at section 12900 et seq .. Section 12960, subdivision (b) provides:

Any person claiming to be aggrieved by an ijlleged unlawful
. practice may' file with the department a verified complaint, in
wdting, that shall state the name and·address ofthe person,
employer, labor organization, or employment agency alleged to
have committed .the' unlawful practice complained of, and that shall
set forth the particulars thereof and contain other information as
may· be required by the department. The director or his or her
authorized representative may in like manner, on his or her own
motion, make, sign, ~d file a complaint.
The duty of fair representation also protects against racial classifications. (pteele v.
Louisville (1944) 323 U.S. 192.; see also fn. 19,post.)
·
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decisions and none support.s the District's position. 18 In Actors 1 Equtty Association (1980)
247 NLRB 1193 (Actors Equity Assn.), enforced (2°d Cir. 1981) 644 F.2d 939, for example,
1

the union ii:nposed higher dues on a class of union members (including Lynn Redgrave· and
Yul Brynner) based on their country of citizenship 1;1.11d residence. The General Counsel for the
National Labor Relati~ns Board .(NLRB) argued that maintenance of the two-tiered dues
structure in conjunction with the contractual union-security clause subjected a nonresident alien
to discharge for nonpayment of dues other than dues "uniformly required'·' within the meaning of

the proviso to section 8(a)(3) 19 of the NLRA. The General Counsel argued that such conduct
established a

per se violation of the NLRA to which there could be no defense as a matter of law,

thereby making irrelevant the union~s reasons for the maintenance of a dual dues structure.

(Actors' Equity Assn., supra, 247 NLRB 1193, 1197.) The NLRB disagreed with the General
Counsel,. concluding that maintenance of a two-tiered due.s structure was not a per se violation of
the NLRA. The NLRB stated:
"Classifications based on alienage, like those based on nationality
or race, are inherently suspect and subject to close judicial
scrutiny.~' Iµiplicit is that such classifications may be justified
after close judicial scrutiny, and the object of scrutiny is to
determine whether there is a legitimate interest to be served by
discrimination based on alienage.

(Actors 1 Equity Assn., supra, at p. 1197, quoting Graham v. Richardson (1971) 403 U.S. 365, 372.)

18

When interpreting the MI\'.[BA, it is appropriate to take guidance from cases
interpreting the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), 29 U.S.C, § 151 et seq., and California
labor relations statutes with parallel provisions. (Fire Fighters Union v. City of Vallejo (1974)
12 Cal.3d 608.)
.
19

The requirement in section 8(a)(3) of the NLRA that dues be ''uniformly required"
does not mean that all members must be charged the same dues, but that distinctions between
classes of members must be based on "reasonable general classification.'' (Actors' Equity Assn.,
supra, 247 NLRB 1193, 1196.~
24

The NLRB agreed w:ith the General Counsel's alternate contention that the dues s~ture
'

'

was presumptively invalid and thatthe union failed to meet its burden to show reasons for the
discrimination and to show that the r~asons were sufficient to overcome the strong e?'pressions of
policy against it. (Actors, ~quity Assn., supra, 247 NLRB 1193, 1197 ["Discrimination based on
alienage is inherently suspect, and rarely will it be possible to show that alienage has relevance to
emplor:ment or a~y legitimate union or business interest.''].) The question is not wh~ther a union's
dues structure differenti.ates between members on some protected basis, Such classifications are
"inh~rently su.spect," but may be:justified if there i's a legitimate interest to be served,

By this discussion, the Board.does not conclude that this line of private sector precedeµt
should necessarily be ~dopted as PERB precedent, Nor do ,we conclude that this line of
precedent would even apply to a question concerning the' validity of a .proposed agency shop,
rather than to a question concerirlµg union dues .structure. Nor do we suggest that "future hires"
describes a protected class. This discussion of private sector precedent is merely intended to
demonstrate that the District's standing argument rests on another fa~lty basis. The District
· assumes incorrectly. that a union is prohibited from making dis.tinctions .amongst bargaining unit
employees in union affairs, ·
The District may perceive a need to protect future bargaining unit employees from
possible, but highly improbable, acts of invidious discrimination.at the hands of their statutory
bargaining representative. But the District's refusal to participate in astatutorily required
.
'

election cannot be justified on that basis.20

2-0 Bargaining unit employe,es, unlike public agency .employers, do have standing to
bring an unfair practice charge against ~he recognized employe.e organization for breach of the·
duty of fair representation. While the MMBA does not expressly impose a statut.ory duty of
fair representation upon employee organizations~ the courts have held that "unions owe a duty
of fair representation to their members, and this requires them to refrain from representing their
members .arbitrarily, discriminatorily, or in· bad faith.ii (Hussey v. Operating Engineers, Local
Union No. 3 (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 1213.) In Hussey, the cou1t further held that a union is to

25

In its final argUm.ent on standing,. the District relies on two cases, The first.is County of

Los Angeles v. Los Angeles.' County Employee Relations Co.mmission (2013) .56 Cal.4th 905. The
California Supreme Court held that the county's failure to ·disclose represei:ited employees'.
contact information to the recognized employee organization violated the MMBA and that the
privacy clause of the state constitution did not excuse the county from disclosing that
informati.on.
The DiStrict argues that if the county had standing to assert the privacy interest of
bargaining unit employees in that case, the District also has standing to assert '~the fi~st

a

· amendment rights of current and future new hires in modified agency shop." (Appeal, p. 57.)
In making this argument, the District ignores a crucial:differen~ betweyn County ofLos Angeles

.

'

_-~d this case, An employer has the duty. to disclose information r~uested by the employee
organization as part of its good faith bargaining obligation. The duty to bargain in good faith

'

.

be "accorded wide latitude in the rc;ipresentation.of its·members,. , , absent a showing of
arbitrary exercise of the union;s power," Regarding its collectiye bargaining duty, as a gener&].
rule, an exclusive representative enjoys a wide range of bargaining latitude. As the United ·
States Supreme Court stated in Ford Motor Co. v.. Huffman (1953) 345 U.S. 330, .338:
Inevitably differences arise in the manner and degree to which the
terms of any negotiated agreement affect individual employees and
classes of employees,. The mere existence of such differences does
not make them invalid, ~he complete satisfaction of all who are
represented is hardly to be expected. A wi4e range of
reasonableness must be allowed a statutory qargaining
representative in serving the. unit it represents, subject always to
complete good faith and honesty of purpose in the exercise of its
discretion.
Acknowledging the.need for such discretion, PERB determined that an exclusive
representative is not expected ·or required to· satisfy all members o.f the unit it represents.
(California School Employees Association and tts Chapter 107 (Chacon) (1995) PERB
Decision No. 1108.) Moreover, the duty of fair representation d.oes not mean an employee
organization is barred fropi making an agreement which may have an unfavorable effect .on
some members, nor is an employee organization obligated to bargain a particular item
benefiting certain unit members. (Ibid.; Los Rios College Federation of Teachers, CFTIAFT
(Violett, et al.) (1991) PERB Decision No. 889.)
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~elongs

to the employer and to the exclusive representative of the bargaining unit employees.

The exclusive representative has the duty to represent the bargaining unit employees fairly.

An~

because· the employer maintains the info:1,1I1atioµ requested, the employer has a direct interest in
and responsibility for ensuring the propriety of disclosure in its role as the bargaining unit
employees' employer. In carrying out their good faith bargaining duties, it is left to the employer
and the exclusive representative to mak~ decisions and take action on matters directly affecting
the interests of bargaining unit employees.
In stark contrast, with election matters, it is left to bargaining unit employees to act on
their own interests. They, and th.ey alone, decide for themselves, by majority vote,
representation questions, i.e., whether to seek exclusive representation by an employee
organization, whether to seek decertification, etc. And, they, ·an.d they alone, decide for
themselves wh~ther.to approve ah agency shop where the.re is no mutual agreement. These are
matters of employee free choice, not matters in .which the public agency employer has a
legitimate role to play 1n attempting to protect employee· interests. The public agency
employer's role in election matters is mainly ministerial in nature;
The second case on which the District relies in making its standing argument is

Davenport, supra, 551 U.S. 177. The state.ofWashington litigated the ~atter iri its role as
defender of a voter initiative. The initiative enacted a law re.stricting .a union's ability to spend
the agency fees that it collects from nonmembers for election~related purposes without the
nonmembers' a:tfmnative consent. Reliance. on: this case is unfounded as it concerns the
District's standing argument given that the state of·Washington did not litigat~ the case in its
capacity as a public employer. Therefore, we reject the District's attempt to use this case as
support for its contention that public agency employers have standing to assert the interests of
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bargaining unit ·employees who would be required: tq pay an agency fee under the petitionedwfor
modified agency shop.
V.

Agenc.Y Shop Includes Lesser Forms of Organizational Security

.

.

The District criticizes the proposed decision for its reliance on "inapposite authority'' in
concluding that the definition of agency shop· is broad enough to include lesser forms of

.

.

organizational security than "full" agency shop. The District's criticism is misplace.d.: The
District argues, ·for example, that the ALJ's reliance on Public Service Companjl of Colorado
(.1950) 89 NLRB 418

was in error because that deeision discussei:; a prior version of the
.

.

relevant NLRA proviso, section 8(a)(3). As the District states, the amendment was intended to
.accomplish.twin·purposes, (NLRB v. General Motors Corp. (1963) 373 U.S .. 734, .740

(General Motors Corp.).) The amendment abolished what was considered to be the most
- -

serious abuse of compulsory unionis~, the closed shop. Jt. also removed expulsion from union
.
.
membership as a ground of compulsory discharge so long' as there
is
no
delinquency
in
paying
,,
the.initiation fee .or duvs. (Id. at pp. 740~741.) The proposed decision relied on Public Servtce

Company of (:olorado, however, not for any principle relating to this amendment to ·
section 8(a)(3), but, rather, for the principle that the NLRA does not prohibit forms of
organizational security less restrictive than "full'.' union or agency shop.
In attempting to prove the ALJ's analytical error, the District relies on the United States
..
Supreme Court decision General Motors Corp., supra, 373 U.~. 734, which the District asserts
stands for the proposition that under the amendment to section 8(a)(3) ''all employees would be

required to pay their way .H (Appeal, p. 43~ emphasis supplied.) Not so. The correct quotation
-,

is: "As far as the federal law was concerned, all employees could be required to pay their ·
way." (Generql Motors Corp. 1 supra1 at p. 741, emphasis supplied.) The Supreme Court went
onto say:
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.We find nothing iµ the legislative history'ofthe Act indicating
that Congress intended the· am~ndeq proviso to'§ 8(a)(3) to
validate only the union shop and simultaneously to abolish, in
addition to the closed shop, all other unionwsecurity arrangements
permissible under state law.
· ·
(Ibid.)··

The District similarly argues that the P!Oposed decision's reliance on .The Steel

Products Engineering Company (1956) 116 NLRB 811 is in error because t~e sole iss~e in
that case concerned the failure of the organizational ~ecurity clause to afford new employees
a 30-day notice.period as required under section 8(a)(3) of the NLRA. The point made bythe ALJ,_ however, was that the union security clause was found to be unlawful, not because it
was a modified union security clause that applied only to new employees, similar to the
petitioned-for modified agency shop involved here, .but becau~e th~ noti~ period was too
short.
CONCLUSION
The central premise of the District's appeal is that an agency shop arrangement is
unlawful unless it applies to all bargaining µnit members equfl.lly. For this, there is ·no
authority.
·Currently, there are a minority of employees who choose to ride free on the
Association's efforts. In addition, dues-paying me~bers who are current employees have the
opportunity to drop their membership and stop paying dues. The system employees currently
enjoy is a voluntary one. ·The Association has opted to pursue an organizational s~curity
arrangement that all~ws these employees to continue under the voluntary dues system currently
in place.
Although ex.pressed as a concern about free riders, the District's concern does not
extend to free riders in a voluntary system. The District's apparent cQncem is about the
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introduction of a compulsory dues/fees system that only addresses the free rider problem
prospectively, As discussed above and in the proposed decision, the ''comp~sory" nature of
th~ petitioned~for modified ag~ncy shop poses no

First Amendment problem so long as the fees

of objecting nonmembers are not use<} for· ideologfoal purposes that are not germane to. the
Association's collective bargaining duties (Abood, supra 431U.S.209) and the Association
1

follows the procedural requirements necessary to prevent the expenditure of fees for
impermissible purposes (Hudson, supra, 475 U.S. 292).
The distin~tions made in the petitioned"for modified agency shop betwe~n. current

.

bargaining unit employees and.future hires only make for a less ro~ust organizational security
arrangement. The phrase "agency shop" as used in·MMBAse9tion 3502.5~ however, is broad
. enough to encompass any compulsory dues/fees system regardless of which bargaining unit
employees are covered. Agency shop is the public sector equivalent of union shop. Union or

.

'

'

agency shop has been stripped down to only one requirement that may be compelled of
bargaining unit employees, the payment of financial core fees to the union for the cost of
performing the repr.esentational duties of an exclusive representative.~ 1 That a recognize~
employee organization chooses.not to exercise this 'right.to the fullest extent legally possible,.
·as. it could by proposing an organizational security arrangement th~t applies both to current
employees and to futur~ hires, does not constitute an employer defense to an unfair practice
charge alleging a violation ofMMBA section 3502,5:

21

As the Ninth ·Circuit held in NLRB v. Hershey Foods Corp. (9th Cir, 1975)
513 F.2d 1083, 1087:
·
.
The union, of course, still has the right to prescribe its own rules for
acquisition or retention of full membership. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(l)(A).
But the employee need not become a full"fledged member of the Union
to be protected from discharge. So lorig as an employee tenders fees
uniformly required of union members, he is a "~ember" for purposes
of sections 8(a)(3) and 8(b)(2).
30

For all the reasons discussed herein, we conclude that.1he District violated MMBA
section 3502.5 by refusing to participate in the properly petitioned-for election,
OBJ)ER
Upon the herein findings of fact and conclusions of law, and the entire record in the
case, it is found that the Orange County Water Dis.trici (District) violated the Meyer~Milias ..
Brown Act (MMBA), Government Code section 3502..5. The District violated the MMBA by
!efusing to participate in good faith in· a properly petitioned~for agency fee election,
Pursuant to section 3509 of the Government Co.de, it hereby is ORDERED that
the. '
.
District, its governing qoard and its representatives shall:
A.

CEASE AND DESIST FROM:
1.

B.

Refusing to participate in an agency shop election.

TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTIONS DESIGNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLICIES OF THE MMBA:
1.

Within ten (10) workdays of the service of a final decision in tpis matter,

· either enter into a consent election agreement with the Orange qourity Water District
.

'

Employees Association (Association) or authorize the California State Mediation and
Conciliation Service (SMCS) to prepare a consent election agreeme~t governing the mechanics
'

'

of an agency shop election.
2.

Provide to SMCS any documentation deemed by SMCS to be necessary

f~r the conduct of an agency shop· election; pursuant to Public Employment Relations Board
'

.

.

(PERB or Board)Regulation 32999 et seq, (codified at Cal., Code Regs,, tit. 8, sec. 31001,
et seq.), including but not limited to ·a list of names of all e!l1ployees included.in the voting unit
as of the cutoff date for voter eligibility. (See PERB Reg. 33004.)
3.

Wifuin ten (10) workdays of the service of a final decision in this matter;

post at all work locations where notices to employees in the Association customarily are
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. posted, copies of the Notice attached hereto as an Appendix, The Notice must be signed by an
authorized agent of the Oistrict, indicating that it will comply with the terms of this Order,
Such posting shall be maintained for a period of thirty (30) consecutive workdays. Reasonable
steps shall be taken to ensure that the Notice is not redu~ed in size, altered, defaced or covered
with any other material~ In addition to physical posting of paper notices, the Notice shall be
posted by electronic message, .intranet, internet site, and other electronic means customarily
used by the District to communicate with its employees iµ the bargaining unit represented by
· the Association,
4.

Written notification of the actions taken to comply with this Order shall

be made to the General Counsel of PERB, or the General Counsel's designee. The District
shall provide reports, in writing, as directed by the General .Counsel or his/her designee. All
reports regarding compliance with this Order shall be concurrently served on the Association
and SMCS.

Membe~s

Winslow and Gregersen joined in this Decision.
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APPENDIX
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER Ol? THE
PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of'the State of California
After a hearing in Unfair Practice Case No. LA-CE~856-M, Orange County Water
District Employees Association v. Orange Courity Water District, in which all parties had the
right to participate, it has been found that the Orange County Water District (District) violated
·the Meyers·"Milias-Brown Act (MMBA), Government Code section 3500 et seq. by failing and
refusing to participate in good faith in a properly petitioned"for agency fee election by the ·
Orange County Water District Employees Association· (Association).
As a result of this conduct, we have been ordered to post this Notice and we will:
A.

CEAS;E· AND DESIST FROM:
Refusing to participate in properly petitioned~for agency fee elections.

B.

TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTIONS DESIGNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLICIES OF THE MMBAi. ·

1.
Within ten (10) workdays of the service of final decision in this matter,
either enter into a consent election agreement with the Assoeiatiqn or authorize the California
State Mediation and Conciliation Service (SMCS) to prepare a consent election agreement
governing the mechan~cs of an agency shop election.
·
'

'

Provide to SMCS anY documentation deemed by the organization to
be necessary for the conduct of an agency shop election, pursuant to PERB Regulation 32999
et seq. (Cal. Code Regs.,. tit. 8, sec. 31001, et seq.), including but not limited to a list of names
of all employees including in the voting unit as of the cutoff date for Y.oter eligibility. (See
PERB Reg. 33004.)
.
2.

ORANGE COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

Authorized Agent

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE. IT MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR AT LEAST rHIRTY
(30) CONSECUTIVE WORKDAYS FROM THE DATE OF POSTING AND MUST NOT BE
REDUCED IN SIZE, DEFACED, ALTERED OR COVERED WITH ANY OTHER
MATERIAL.

ST ATE OF CALIFORNIA
PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD
ORANGE COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION,
UNFAIR PRACTICE
CASE NO. LA"CE"856"M

Charging Party,

v.

PROPOSED DECISION
(February- 26, 2015).

ORANGE COUNTY WATER DISTRICT,
Res ondent.
Appearances: Charles G, Barfield, Labor Relations Specialist, for Orange County Water
District Employees Association; Rutan & Tucker, LLP, by George W. "Bill" Shaeffer, Jr.,
Attorney, for Orange County Water District.
Before Valerie Pike Racho, Administrative Law Judge.
This case presents the novel legal issue of whether Meyers"Milias"Brown Act (MMBA
or Act) 1 section 3502.5 permits an employer to withhold its consent to conduct an election to
determine whether employees desire to enact an agency shop arrangement. applicable to
employees_ hired on or after a certain date, but not applicable to current employees.
PROCEDURAL HISTORY
On July 3, 2013, the Orange County Water District Employees Association
(Association) filed the above"referenced unfair practice charge (charge) with the Public
Employment Relations Board (PERB or Board) alleging that .the Orange County Water District
(District) refused to participate in an agency shop election in violation of section 3502.5.
On August 5, 2013, the District filed a position statement in response to the charge.

1

The ·MMBA is codified at Government Code section 3500 et seq. All further statutory
references are to the MMBA unless stated otherwise.

On Sept~mber 16, 2013, the PERB Office of the General Counsel issued a complaint
(the complaint) against the District for failing and refusing to consent to an agency shop
election conducted by SMCS or .to provide information required by SMCS in order to
determine the sufficiency of employee support in favor of an aget;tcy shop election.
On October 8, 2013, the District answered the complaint.
On October 22, 2013, an informal settlement conference was held but the matter was
not resolved. The matter was then set for hearing .
.On December 11, 2013, a telephonic pre-hearing conference was held to discuss the
presentation of evidence. It was determ~ned that no material facts were in dispute and the issue
to be decided was purely a legal one; thus, the parties agreed to: (1) jointly submit a written
stipulation of facts in lieu of holding an evidentiary hearing (see PERB Regulation 32207);2 (2)
/

file opening briefs; (3) present oral argument before me, the ALJ assigned by PERB to hear
this matter; and (4) file closing briefs.
On December 16, 2013, the parties filed the stipulation of facts.
On January 16, 2014, the District filed its opening brief. Also on this date, the District
submitted a Declaration and Request for Official Notice (First Request for

Of~cial

Notice) of a

number of documents that were compiled by the Legislative Intent Service relating to changes
in the MMBA.
On January 21, 2014, the Association filed its opening brief.
On Ja:nuary 22, 2014, the parties presented oral argument at the PERB Los Angeles
Regional Office. I granted the First Request for Official Notice without opposition from the
Association.

2

PERB regulations are codified at California Code of Regulations, title 8, section
31001 et seq.
2

On March 11, 2014, the parties filed closing briefs, Concurrent with its closing brief,
the District submitted a 'Second Request for Official Notice of several federal district court
orders. The record was closed and the case submitted for decision upon receipt of the filings
on this date. 3
JURISDICTION
In paragraphs 1 - 4 of the stipulation of facts, the parties stipulated that the District is a
public agency within the meaning of the MMBA and that "the Orange County Water District
Employee's Association and the Orange County Employees Association (collectively referred
to as 'Association')" is a recognized employee organization as defined by the Act.
FINDINGS OF FACT
The parties stipulated to the following additional facts:
5.
Commencing on or about June 24, 2005, District
and Association have been parties to Memoranda of
Understandings [sic] ("MOU" and "MOUs") and
successor MOUs, which set forth various wages, hours
and other terms and conditions of employment for the
employees in the bargaining unit covered by the MOU.
6.
The current term of the MOU between the District
and the Association is July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2015.
7.
In or about May of 2011, Association proposed a
"modified agency shop" arrangement in the course of
negotiations for a successor MOU which would exempt
all current employees from the agency shop arrangement,
and which would apply the agency shop arrangement on
all new District employees hired on or after a future date.
In or about July of 2012, Association requested to reopen
the MOU to implement a "modified agency shop"
arrangement, whereby current employees would be
exempt from the agency shop arrangement, but the agency
shop arrangement would apply to all new employees hired
by the District on or after a future date. On both
3 The Association did not subsequently oppose the

Official Notice.

3

Distri~t's Second Request for

occasions, District rejected the modified agency shop
arrangement on the ground that Government Code section
3502.5 does not authorize the creation of an agency shop
agreement Which exempts current employees from the
agency shop arrangement, and which applies only to new
employees hired on or after a future date.
8.
On or about November 14, 2012, the Association
served the District and the State Mediation and
Conciliation Services ("SMCS") with a Petition and
Request for Agency Shop Election which.stated, in part,
that no management or confidential employees are
included in the unit, and the petition has been signed by
approximately 98 percent of the members of the unit.
9.
At all times herein mentioned, the Petition,
attached to the Request for Agency Shop Election, bears
the signatures of 125 District employees in the bargaining
. unit.
10.
At all times herein relevant, the Petition for
Modified Agency Shop Election attached to the Request
for Agency Shop Ele.ction states as follows:
We, the undersigned employees of the Orange County
Water District represented by the Orange County
Employees Association, hereby request a Modified
Agency Shop Agreement and an election to implement an
Agency Fee Arrangement pursuant to California
Government Code section 3502.5 and other applicable
laws or regulations. Pursuant to Modified Agency Shop ·
Agreement and Arrangement, all employees hired on or·
after March 1, 2013, will be required to join as members
the Orange County Employees Association or pay to the
Orange County Employees Association a ''service fee" as
set forth in Government code section 3502.5(a), et seq.
All employees hired prior to March 1, 2013 are
specifically excluded from the Modified Agency Shop
Agreement and Arrangement.
11.
At all times herein relevant, the total number of
employees in the bargaining unit represented by
Association is.184, of which 126 are dues paying
members of the Association.
12.
On or about December 4, 2012, Stephanie Dosier,
the District's Director of Human Resources, received an
e-mail from Jerry Fecher, Mediator, State of California,
4

State Mediation & Conciliation Service, confirming
receipt' of a request for agency shop election from the
Association. Mr. Fecher requested a meeting to discuss
the logistics and set up of an election. December 12 and
14, 2012, were proposed as possible dates for such a
meeting. .
13.
District's legal counsel responded to Mr. Fecher on
December 7, 2012 requesting a postponement of the
meeting until SMCS verified its ability to conduct a
modified agency shop election under Government Code
section 3502.5(a). [Sic.]
14.
On or about December 12, 2012, Mr. Fecher
responded to the parties by stating that the MMBA does
not authorize the SMCS to rule on the legality ofa
proposed agency fee arrangement. Nevertheless, if the
parties are ready and in agreement to proceed, SMCS is
available, if necessary, to check the level of support in the
petition and/or to subsequent conduct an election. [Sic.]
15.
On or about January 3, 2013, after receiving
· further direction from the District's governing board,
District's Legal Counsel informed Mr. Fecher of SMCS
that the District would not voluntarily consent to a
modifi~d agency shop election which has the intention of
creating an agency shop only for employees hired on or
after March 1, 2013, and which exempts all current
bargaining unit employees. The District reconfirmed its
contention that an agency shop can only apply to all
employees in the unit, and it cannot be limited to
employees hired after a future date.
16.
On or about July 3, 2013, Association timely filed
an unfair practice charge from the District's denial of the
Association's Petition for a Modified Agency Shop
election as described above.
ISSUE
The question presented by the complaint is whether the District violated section 3502.5,
and thereby committed an unfair practice under section 3509 and PERB Regulation 32603,

5.

subdivision (g), when it refused to participate in an agency shop4 election conducted by SMCS,
or to provide information required by SMCS in order to determine the sufficiency of employee
support.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. Official Notice
PERB regula~ions do not specifically address the taking of official notice. With regard
to the propriety of an ALJ's taking of official notice, the Board has applied the standards for
the taking of judicial notice in a California court oflaw. (City ofAlhambra (2010) PERB
Decision No. 2139~M.) The taking of judicial notice is governed by California Evidence Code
sections 451 and 452. (Santa Clara County Superior Court (2014) PERB Decision No. 2394.,
C.)s
Evidence Code section 451 provides for the mandatory judicial notice of (1) The United
· States and California Constitutions; (2) California City and County charters; (3) federal and
.California decisional law; (4) the regulations of federal and California agencies; (5) federal and
California rules of pleading, practic~ and procedure; (6) the signification of English words and
phrases; and (7) universally known facts.
Evidence Code section 452 provides for the optional judicial notice of: (1) the laws of
another state or territory in the United States; (2) the resolutions and private acts of the United
States Congress or California Legislature; (3) regulations and ordinances issued under federal
4

The MMBA makes specific reference to "agency shop" agreements and arrangements.
PERB regulation 32990 adopts the phrase, "agency fee" to describe any form of organizational
security that might otherwise be termed ''fair share" or "agency shop." I have adopted the use
of the phrase "agency shop" throughout this document for consistency, with the understanding
that all three phrases make reference to the same form of union security.
5

When interpreting the MMBA, it is appropriate to take guidance from cases
interpreting the National Labor Relations Act and California labor relations statutes with
parallel provisions. (Fire Fighters Union v. City of Vallejo (1974) 12 Cal.3d 608.)

6

authority or any public entity in the United States; (4) official acts of one of the branches of the
federal government or any state government in the United States; (5) Court records of any
California court, federal court or any 'state court in the United States; (6) foreign law; and (7)
commonly known or readily determinable facts.
PERB has a longstanding practice of considering legislative history to aid it in
interpreting the statutes it administers .. (See, e.g., State of California (Department of Personnel

Administration) (2009) PERB Decision No. 2017-S; City & County of San Francisco (2009)
PERB Decision No. 2041-M.) A legislative committee analysis is not factual, evidentiary
material, but is relevant, publicly available information that was considered by the Legislature
in enacting a statute.
The First Request for Official Notice regarding legislative history materials was granted
on the record without opposition from the Association. The Association did not state a
position regarding the Second Request for Official Notice. Because that request is entirely
over federal decisional law, a mandatory subject of notice under Evidence Code section 451, it
is also granted.
II. Agency Shop Elections Under The MMBA
PERB's powers to enforce the MMBA include the authority to "order elections, to
conduct any election the board orders, and to adopt rules to apply in areas where a public
agency has no rule." (Gov. Code, § 3509, subd. (a).) Furthermore, "a complaint alleging any
violation of this chapter ... shall be processed as an unfair practice charge by the board."
(Gov. Code, § 3509, subd. (b).) It is PERB's role to protect employees' statutory rights to
decide whether to implement or rescind agency fee arrangements. (See State of California

(Department of Personnel Administration) (1986) PERB Order No. Aci-156-S.) Agency shop
is defined as:
7

an arrangement that requires an employee, as a condition of
continued employment, either to join the recognized employee
·organization or to pay the organization a service fee in an amount
not to exceed the standard initiation fee, periodic dues, and
general assessments of the organization.
(MMBA, § 3502.5, subd. (a).)
Section 3502.5, subdivision (b), states:

In addition to the procedure prescribed in subdivision.(a),l 61an
agency shop arrangement between the public agency and a
recognized employee organization that has been recognized as the
exclusive or majority bargaining agent shall be placed in effect,
without a negotiated agreement, upon (1) a signed petition of 30
percent of the employees in the applicable bargaining uhit
requesting an agency shop agreement and an election to
implement an agency fee arrangement, and (2) the approval of a·
majority of employees who cast· ballots and vote in a secret ballot
election in favor of the agency shop agreement. The petition may ·
be filed only after. the recognized employee organization has
requested the public agency to negotiate on an agency shop
arrangement and, beginning seven working days after the public
agency received this request, the two parties have had 30 calendar
days to attempt good faith negotiations in an effort to reach
agreement. An election that may not be held more frequently
than once a year shall be conducted by the California State
Mediation and Conciliation Service [SMCS] in the event that the
public agency and the recognized employee organization cannot
agree within 10 day~ from the filing of the petition to select
jointly a neutral person or entity to conduct the election. In the
event of an agency fee arrangement outside of an agreement that
is in effect, the recognized employee organization shall
indemnify and hold the public agency harmless against any
liability arising from a claim, demand, or other action relating to
the public agency's compliance with the agency fee obligation.
Although an agency shop agreement does not require bargaining unit members to join
the union, as is the case in the private sector with so~called "union shop" agreements, the court
also acknowledges that the agency shop in the public sector is the practical equivalent of the

6

Section 3502.5, subdivision (a), provides in relevant part that "an agency shop
agreement may be negotiated between a public agency and ... a ... recognized ... exclusive or
majority bargaining agent .... "
8

union shop in the private sector. (City of Hayward v. United Public Employees, Local 390,

SEIU (1976) 54 Cal.App.3d 761, 768; Rae v. Bay Area Rapid Transit Supervisory and
Professional Assn. (1980) 114 Cal.App.3d 147, 153.)
Agency shop agreements are within the scope of representation (Rae v. Bay Area Rapid

Transit Supervisory and Professional Assn., supra, 114 Cal.App.3d 147, 152-153) and the
statutes administered by PERR either explicitly permit the employer andthe exclusive
representative to include· an agency shop agreement in their collective bargaining agreement
(see Gov. Code,§§ 3502.5, subd. (a); 3515.7, subd. (a); 71632, subd. (a); 71814, subd. (a); and
110019, subd. (a)), or provide that such fees shall be immediately deducted by the employer
upon notice from the exclusive representative. (See Gov. Code, §§ 3546, subd. (a); 3583.5,
subd. (a)(l); and Pub. Util. Code,§ 99566.)
When parties fail to agree to contractual agency fee language, the labor statutes
administered by PERB typically resolve the issue by putting it to a secret ballot vote of the
affected employees, as is the case under the MMBA, Trial Court Employment Protection and
Governance Act, Trial Court Interpreter Employment and Labor Relations Act, and In-Home
Supportive Services Employer-Employee Relations Act. 7 (See Gov. Code,§§ 3502.5, subd.
(b), 71632.5, subd. (c), 71814, subd. (c), 110019, subd. (b), respectively.) All of the statutes
provide a mechanism to rescind an agency fee agreement by secret ballot vote of affected
bargaining unit employees. (See Gov. Code,§§ 3502.5, subd. (d), 3515.7, .subd. (d), 3546,
subd. (d), 3583.5, subd. (c), 71632, supd. (b), 71814, subd. (b), 110019, subd. (d); and Pub.
Util. Code,§ 99566.1, subd. (d).)

.

7 The Ralph C, Dills Act provides that the state ·employer and a recognized employee

organization "may enter into an agreement" for organizational security, There is no election
procedure. (See Gov. Code,§ 3515.7, subd. (a).)
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A. A Brief History of The Right To Agency Shop Under MMBA
The MMBA did not always contain language explicitly authorizing agency shop
agreements. Before 1976, many public agencies voluntarily entered into agency shop
agreements, though the MMBA was silent on the issue. (Assem. Com. on Public Employees
and Retirement, Background, Assem. Bill No. 1693 (1981-1982 Reg. Sess.).) In City of

Hayward v. United Public Employees, Local 390, Service Employees International Union
(1976) 54 CaLApp.3d 761 (City of Hayward), the court stressed that public employees only
enjoy those collective bargaining rights granted by statute and there is no common law right of
public employees to bargain collectively. The court noted that the agency shop was authorized
'

'

explicitly by the language of the Educational Employment Relations Act (BERA) but not by
the MMBA. Owing to this difference, the court reasoned that the MMBA did not authorize the
parties to enter into agency shop agreements. When City of Hayward was decided in 1976,
BERA section 3546, subdivision (a), 8 stated:
An organizational security arrangement, in order to be effective,
must be agreed upon by both parties to the agreement. At tQ.e
time the issue is being negotiated, the public school employer
may require that the organizational security provision be severed
from the remainder of the proposed agreement and cause the
organizational security provision to be voted upon separately by
all members in the appropriate negotiating unit, in accordan~e
with rules and regulations promulgated by the board. Upon such
a vote, the organizational security provision will become
8

In 2000, the Legislature amended BERA section 3546 to require an employer to
implement an agency fee arrangement upon the demand of an exclusive employee
organization, and to eliminate the requirement of an election for the initial adoption of an
agency fee arrangement. The analysis of the Senate Committee on Education states, "This bill
has the effect of circumventing the collective bargaining.process by directly imposing agency
shop fees rather than allowing them to be bargained and then submitting the provisions to the
employees for a vote." (Sen. Com. on Education, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 1960 (1999-2000 Reg.
Sess.) as amended April 12, 2000, p. 2.)
10

·effective only if a majority of those members of the negotiating
unit voting approve the agreement. Such vote shall not be
deemed to either ratify or defeat tl:le remaining provision of the
proposed agreement.
·
In a subsequent decision holding that an agency shop election under BERA should be ·

determined by a simple majority, dissenting Board member Alleyne noted that, under the
above-quoted language, an organizational security vote was called.at the option of the
employer, and the employer's exercise of the option not to call an organizatfonal security vote
was tantamount to a rejection of a negotiated organizational security clause. (Oceanside

Unified School District (1977) EERB Order No. Ad-20, dissent pp. 6-7.)
The above-quoted language in BERA section 3546 was in effect when, in 1981, the
Legislature amended the MMBA to include section 3502.5. As originally adopted, section
3502.5 authorized the parties to include an agency shop agreement in their contracts, and
specified that agency shop agreements were a mandatory subject of negotiations. The
language of the newly-adopt~d section 3502.5 was still in marked contrast to the language
contained in the BERA, however.
Despite the fact that the language in BERA may have been the impetus for amending
the MMBA, when it did so, the Legislature did not adopt the same language used in BERA.
Instead of adopting the same language used in BERA, the Legislature amended the MMBA to
include the following language at section 3502.5:
(a) Noiwithstanding Section 3502, or any other provision of this
chapter, or any other law, rule, or regulation, an agency shop
agreement may be negotiated between a public agency and a
recognized public employee organization which has been
recognized as the exclusive or majority bargaining agent pursuant
to reasonable rules and regulations, ordinances, and enactments,
in accordance with this chapter. As used in this chapter, "agency
shop" means an arrangement that requires an employee, as a
condition of continued employment, either to join the recognized
employee organization, or to pay the organization a service fee in
11

an amount not to exceed the standard initiation fee, periodic dues,
and general assessments of such organization for the duration of
the agreement, or a period of three years from the effective date
of such agreement, whichever comes first. However, any
employee who is a member of a bona fide religion, body, or sect
which has historically held conscientious objections to joining or
financially supporting public employee organizations ~hall not be
required to join or financially support any public employee
organization as a condition of employment. Such employee may
be required, in lieu of periodic dues, initiation fees, or agency
shop fees, to pay sums equal to such dues, initiation fees, or
agency shop fees to a nonreligious; nonlabor charitable fund
exempt from taxation under Section 50l(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code, chosen by such employee from a list of at least
three such funds, designated in a memorandum of understanding
between the public agency and the public employee organization,
or ifthe memorandum of understanding fails to designate such
funds, then to any such fund chosen by the. employee. Proof of
such payments shall be made on .a monthly basis to the public
agency as a condition of continued exemption from the
requirement of financial support to the public employee
organization.
(b) An agency shop provision in a memorandum of understanding
which is in effect may be rescinded by a majority vote of all the
employees in the urtit covered by such memorandum of
understanding, provided that: (1) a request. for such avote is
supported by a petition containing the signatures of at least 30
percent of the employees in the unit; (2) such vote is by secret
ballot; (3) such vote may be taken at anytime during the term of
such memorandum of understanding but in no event shall there be
more than one vote taken during such term, Notwithstanding the
above, the public agency and the recognized employee
organization may negotiate, and by mutual 'agreement proyide
for, an alternative procedure or procedures regarding avote on an
agency shop agreement,
(c) An agency shop agreen,:tent shall not apply to management,
confidential, or supervisory employees.
(d) Every recognized employee organization which has agreed to
an agency shop provision shall keep an adequate itemized record
of its financial transactions and shall make available annually, to
the public agency with which the agency shop provision was
negotiated, and the employees who are members of the
organization, within 60 days after the end of its fiscal year, a
detailed written financial report thereofin the form of a balance
12

sheet and an operating statement, certified as to accuracy by its
president and treasurer or .corresponding principal officer, or by a
certified public accountant. An employee organization required
to file financial reports under the Labor"Management Disclosure
Act of 1959 covering employees governed by this chapter, or
required to file financial reports under Section 3546.5, may
satisfy the financial reporting requirement of this section by
providing the public agency with a copy of such financial reports.
Thus, when the Legislature first authorized agency shop agreements under the MMBA,
agency shop could only be adopted by the mutual consent of the parties. The right to cause an
election to determine whether an agency shop arrangement should be implemented was not
granted under the MrviBA until 2000, when the Legislature adopted Senate Bill 739, which
contains the current language at section 3502.5 authorizing both a negotiated agency shop
agreement as well as a secret ballot election at the option of the employee organization.
Prior to its adoption, both the arguments in support of and in opposition to Senate Bill
73 9 stress that the bill reduces the amount of control the public agency employer has over
whether an agency shop would apply. The arguments in support of the bill were:
1. Some public agency employers unfairly withhold or refuse
agreement on agency fee arrangements despite a significant
interest demonstrated by employees.
2. The existing MMBA provisions are said to provide employers
with an unfair veto authority over such arrangements.
3. This bill provides employees with an alternative process to
obtain an agency fee agreement through a fair, democratic
process.
(Sen. Rules Com. Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses' reading analysis of Sen. Bill No. 739, (19992000 Reg. Sess.).) Argwnents in opposition to the bill were:
[S]B 730 [sie] undermines the basic justification for a collective
bargaining law by mandating a significant union security
agreement without any requirement for local collective
bargaining regarding· implementation of the benefit .... The
collective impact of these proposed changes would be to delete a
13

significant element of control by a board of supervisors over the
terms and conditions of employment of its employees."
(Ibid.; emphasis added.) Clearly, the Legislature understood at the time that it enacted the
.

'

current version of 3502. 5 that doing so would drastically reduce the amount of control that the
public agency employer was able to exert to prevent an agency shop arrangement from going
into effect.
B. MMBA Agency Shop Elections Today
Turning to the current lapguage in section 3502.5, there are several conditions
precedent that must be met by the majority bargaining agent before an agency shop election is
held. First, the employee organization must have attempted in good faith to include an agency
fee agreement in the parties' contract. Only after such a good faith attempt is made, the
employee organization may submit a petition containing the signatures of no fewer than 30
percent of the employees in the bargaining unit, requesting a S¥cret ballot election to adopt an
agency fee arrangement. An election is held after the.se conditions precedent have been . .
satisfied.
In 2013, pursuant to its authority under section 3509, PERB adopted Regulations
32999:.33012 governing the mechanic~ of an agency shop election conducted by SMCS. By
operation of the language empowering PERB to make rules, the regulations must be enacted
and construed in conformity with the provisions, purposes and policies of the Act, and must be
enacted in harmony with the statutes that create and empower the agency issuing the
regulations. (Santa Clarita Community College District (College of the Canyons) (2003)
PERB Decision No. 1506.) Thus,. the parties' substantive rights are determined by statute,
and
.
.
the regulations merely

a~sist

in the realization of those rights.
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When PERB adopted Regulation 32999, 9 its rationale was to provide clarity regarding
the election services that SMCS. would provide "whenever [it] conducts representation and
agency shop elections pursuant to the local rules of an MMBA ... employer ... " as well as
that the section was "necessary for consistency with existing PERB·Regulation 32724, which
similarly provides for PERB to conduct elections pursuant to a Consent Election Agreement."
(Cal. Public Employment Relations Bd., Initial Statement of Reasons (July 12, 2013), p. 1.)
PE.RB also stated that "such elections would be conducted by SMCS only pursuant to a
Consent Election Agreement." (Ibid.)
When parties to a PERB"conducted election cannot agree to the terms of a consent
election agreement (CEA), ·PERB will issue a directed election order (DEO), dictating the time,
place and manner of a representation election. (PERB Regulation 32724.) The two
documents-CEA and DEO-ultimately accomplish the same thing: they establish the
mechanics of the election with regard to the time, place, and manner in which ballots are
printed, distributed, collected, and tallied. Furthermore, once the parties agree to the terms of
an election in a CEA, they are not free to unilaterally rescind the CEA and thereby prevent the
election from occurring. (See State of California (Department of Personnel Administration)
9

PERB Regulation 32999 states:
(a) The provisions of this Article are applicable whenever SMCS
conducts representation and agency shop elections pursuant to the
local rules of an.MMBA, Trial Court Act, or Court Interpreter
Act employer.
(b) SMCS shall conduct such elections only pursuant to a
Consent Election Agreement entered into.by all parties and
SMCS. · The term "Consent Election Agreement" means either an
agreement by the parties as to the. time, place and manner of an
election, or an agreement by the parties that authorizes the
election supervisor assigned by SMCS to determine the time,
place and manner of the election.
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(1991) PERB Order No. Ad-221-S; State of California (Department of Personnel

Administration) (1986) PERB Order No. Ad-156-S; Tamalpais Union High School District
(1976) EERB Decision No. 110 .) Nor may the parties ch~llenge an order regarding the
mechanics of an election througp. the Board's appeal process. (State of California (Department

of Personnel Administration) (1993) PERB Order No. Ad-246-S.)

In contrast to the manner in which elections are conducted .by PERB under its related
regulations, there is no authority for SMCS to issue a DEO when the parties are unable to
reach a CEA. When SMCS conducts an election, the regulations require the parties to agree
either to the terms of a CEA or to permitting SMCS to establish the terms of the election. In
both circumstances, a document titled "CEA" results, which 9ictates election procedures.
There is no functional difference between a CEA that has been determined by the SMCS
supervisor on the one hand and a DEO that is determined by a Board agent on the other. In
·both circumstances, once the right to an election has been determined, the mechanics of the
election must be established by agreement or delegated to the neutral entity responsible for
ensuring the election is fairly conducted. Decisions involving the mechanics of an election are
neither discretionary nor appealable. (See PERB Regulation 3238.0; State of California

(Department of Personnel Administration), supra, PBRB Order No.

Ad-246~8;

State of

California (Department of Personnel Administration), supra, PERB Order No. Ad-221-S; State
of California (Department ofPersonnel Administration) (1986) PERB Order No. Ad-156-S.;
and Tamalpais Union High School District, supra, EERB Decision No. 1.)
In Oakland Unified School District (1980) PERB Order No. Ad-84, the Board
recognized that PERB regulations governing the mechanics of an election do not permit a
10

Prior to January 1, 1978, PERB was known as the Educational Employment·
Relations Board (EERB). (See BERA,§ 3540; Madera Unified School District (2007) PERB
·
Decision No. 1907 .)
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regional director who is charged with conducting the election to deviate from the regulations or
to allow the parties to deviate from the regulations. Indeed, PERB 's role in an election
pursuant to a CEA is "ministerial as a matter of convenience to the parties." (Los Angeles

Unified School District (1980) PERB Decision No. 113, p. 3.)
A ministerial act is "one which a public officer is required to perform upon a given
state of facts in a prescribed manner in obedience to the mandate of legal authority and without
regard to his own judgment or opinion concerning the propriety or impropriety of the act to be
performed." (Williams v. City ofStockton (1925) 195 CaL 743, 748.) Whether a statute
imposes a ministerial duty or a mere obligation to perform a discretionary function is a
question of statutory interpretation. (Mooney v. Garcia (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 229, 233.) To
be ministerial,
a decision must be one the administrative agency itself is forced
to follow. It must be a standard fixed by statute or ordinance or
the enactment of some other legislative body. It cannot be a
standard the administrative agency itself exercised its own
discretion to create and therefore which it possesses the discretion
to modify or ignore ....

(Friends ofWestwoodv. City of Los Angeles (1987) 191Cal.App.3d259, 278.)
.

'

As noted above, the right to an agency shop election is established by statute. PERB' s
regulations, therefore, must be interpreted in a manner that is in harmony with the statute.
When interpreting administrative regulations, it is appropriate to apply the rules of statutory
construction. (Organization of Deputy Sheriffs of San Mateo County v. County of San Mateo
(1975) 48 Cal.App.3d 331, 341; State of California.(Department of Personnel Administration),

supra, PERB Order No. Ad-246-S.) Statutes and regulations should be construed in harmony
with other statutes and regulations on the same general subject, with reference to the whole
system of which it is a part so that all may be harmonized and have effect. (Building Material
17

& Construction Teamsters Union, Local 216 v. Farrell (1986) 41Cal.3d651, 665; and Joint

Powers Board of Directors, Tulare County Organization for Vocational Education, Regional
'

Occupational Center and Program (1978) PERB Decision No. 57.) New regulations adopted
by the Board are assumed to incorporate precedent. (California Nurses Association

(O'Malley) (2003) PERB Decision No. 1578-M.) Use of the word "shall" in a statute or
regulation normally imports that its provisions are mandatory in nature. (Los Angeles Unified

School District (1990) PERB Decision No. 852, p. 5, citations omitted;)
Unlike PERB, SMCS does not have the authority to enforce the MMBA or the
regulations adopted pursuant to the MMBA. I11:.stead, SMCS may only conduct an election that
the parties place before it. Given the similarities between the CEA created under PERB
Regulation 32999, subdivision (b), and the DEO authorized by PERB Regulation 32724, the
title of DEO ~r CEA on the document governing the manner in which an election is conducted
appears to be a distinction without a difference. Notably, PERB Regulation 32724 describes
both a CE~ and a DEO in the same section. Furthermore, as the function served by SMCS in
an agency shop election mirrors that of a regional director. during representation elections, and
given the mandatory language in section 3502.5, subdivision (b), that SMCS shall conduct an
election if no other neutral entity is·chosen, it is not clear that SMCS has discretion to refuse to
perform the functions of an election supervisor and fail to issue a CEA.
C. The Parties' Rights And Duties Pursuant To An Agency Shop Election
Based on its interpretation of PERB Regulation 32999, the District argues that its
participation in an agency shop election is voluntary, as it must by definition "consent" to an
election. There are several problems with the District's argument. First, PERB Regulations
may not be interpreted in a manner that contradicts the statute. Thus, since section 3502.5,
subdivision (b ), grants an employee organization the right, upon the completion of certain
18

conditions, to submit to employee vote whether an agency shop provision shall be
· implemented, PERB regulations may not be interpreted in a manner that would deny an
employee organization its statutory rights.
Section 3502.5 lists the conditions precedent that must be met before an agency shop
election is held, and as noted above, those conditions have been met in this case. The statute
mandates that an agency shop arrangement shall be placed in effect without a negotiated
agreement after arr election which shall be conducted by SMCS if no alternate neutral entity is
chosen by the parties. Accordingly,

an agency shop election is in order in this case, and the

failure of the parties to designate a neutral entity other than SMCS must be interpreted as the
parties' de facto consent to the authority of SMCS over the election..
In arguing that section 3502.5, subdivision (b), requires the employer's consent to the
election, the Distdct relies not on statutory language, but on PERB regulations. Citing to
PERB Regulation 32999, the District argues that agency shop elections are conducted only by
the mutual consent of both par.ties as evidenced by the proviso that elections be conducted only
pursuant to· a CEA. In essence, the District argues that it may lawfully prevent an agency shop
election by refusing to participate in the SMCS process to determine the time, place and
manner of the election. If true, this would defeat the entire purpose for which Senate Bill 739
was adopted-to eliminate the employer's ability to unilaterally prevent the conduct of an
agency shop election. Such an interpretation eviscerates the statutory right of i;in employee
organization to permit employees to choose whether to enact an agency shop. On this basis
alone, the District's interpretation of PERB regulations must be rejected.
·the ·MMBA states that, if the parties fail to include· an agency shop agreement after ·
good faith negotiations, an agency shop arrangement shall be placed in effect after an election
has been held in which the plan has been approved by majority vote. The requirements of.the
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MMBA and PERB regulations are fixed and the District is not at liberty to exercise its own
discretion to decide whether, assuming all the prerequisites have been met, it will submit to an
election. The extent of the employer's discretion under the statute regarding agency shop
elections is some input over the selection of an election supervisor other than SMCS, but even
that discretion may not be exercised unilaterally. If the parties forgo the opportunity to
mutually select an alternative to SMCS, as they have done here, SMCS shall conduct an
election .. (MMBA, § 3502.5 subd. (b).) .
Second, the CEA governs only the mech~nics of the election, and "withholding" its
"c~nsent"

to the mechanics of an election serves no purpose other than to delay the operation

of the election. Entering into a CEA with the Association does not force the District to forgo
any right to challenge the outcome of the election or the substantive provisions in the proposed
modified agency shop arrangement. Concerns regarding employee eligibility to vote in a
particular election may be addressed by making challenges to eligibility at a point prior to the
, opening of the ballots (PERB Regulati~n 33005-33006, 33008.) Objections concerning the
conduct of the election may be made within 10 days of the tally of ?allots. (PERB Regulation
33009.) Concerns that either party engaged in conduct that would so affect the election
process that the employees may be prevented from exercising free choice are addressed
through the unfair practice charge process and may be grounds to stay an election pending the
resolution of the unfair practice charge. (PERB Regulation 33002.) Thus, the regulations
contain procedures for making substantive challenges to an election.
Finally, it is an unfair practice for an employee organization to cause or attempt to
cause a public agency to engage in conduct prohibited by the MMBA. (PERB Regulation
32604, subd. (g).) If the District desired a resolution to the question whether a modified
agency shop arrangement was lawful under the act, it could have filed an unfair practice charge
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alleging that the Association was attempting to cause the District to violate the Act by inducing
it to participate in an unlawful agency shop arrangement. The Distri~t did not take affirmative
steps to resolve this issue, instead preventing the election from occurring and forcing the
Association to file a charge against the District in order to obtain a ruling.
In conclusion, I find that neither the statute nor the regulations permit the parties the
discretion to refuse to participate in the mechanics of the election. Instead of gran~ing SMCS
the use of an enforcement tool, the statute and associated regulations place the onus on the
'

'

parties: they may choose to have SMCS conduct the election, and, once all the prerequisites to
that election have been established, the parties must either set the mechanics of the election by
mutual agreement or permit SMCS to do so. The fact that SMCS lacks the authority to issue a
document titled, "Directed Election Order" does nothing to diminish the parties' mutual duty
to participate in the election process.
As concluded above, section 3502.5 requires the parties to participate in good faith in
the election proceedings, when the conditions precedent have been met. In this case, the
parties' stipulated facts assert that the conditions precedent to an agency shop election have
been met. The parties forwent an opportunity to select an alternate election supervisor, thus
designating SMCS the default election supervisor. Also noted above, the parties had a duty to
either enter into a CEA or authorize S.MCS to issue a CEA on behalf of all parties. Absent a
valid defense, the District's failure to exercise its discretion to request a neutral election
supervisor other than SMCS or authorize SMCS to issue a CEA is a per se violation of its good
faith duty to participate in an agency shop election under section 3502.5.
III, Defenses
In defense of its refusal to participate in the agency shop election, the District argues
that the Association's proposal is unlawful because it violates the First Amendment of the
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United States Constitution and because it does not fit the statutory definition of an agency shop
agreement. The District further argues that the indemnification clause in section 3502.5,
subdivision (b), is, in practical terms, inadequate protection from employer liability over
agency fee litigation. Each of these arguments is addressed below.
A. The Proposed Modified Agency Shop Is Not Unlawful Under Current First Amendment
Jurisprudence
In Abood v. Detroit Board of Education (1977) 431 U.S. 209 (Abood), the United States
Supreme Court found that "[t]he governmental ii;iterests advanced by the agency-shop
provision in the [public sector] are much the same as those promoted by similar provision in·
[private sector] labor law." (Id. at p. 224.) The Court went on to state that ~'[t)he desirability
of labor peace is no less important in the public sector, nor is the risk of 'free riders' any
smaller." (Ibid.) Ultimately, the Court found that the affected employees' First Amendment
rights were impermissibly intruded upon only when the dues collected were used for political
purposes.
In adjudicating the .constitutionality of the Michigan statute authorizing agency shop
agreements in public sector employment, the Court stated,
[i]nsofar as the service charge is used to finance expenditures by
the union for the purposes of collective bargaining, contract .
administration, and grievance adjustment, ... decisions of this
Court appear to require validation of the agency-shop agreement
before us.
(Abood, supra, 431 U.S. at p. 226.)

In subsequent decisions, the Court has ackriowledged that while union security
arrangements pose a "significant burdening of First Amendment rights," public employees may
nevertheless be constitutionally compelled to affiliate with a union, so long as they are not
compelled to participate in purely ideological activities that do not relate to their collective
22

bargaining agreement. (Lehnert v. Ferris Faculty Assoc. (1991) 500 U.S. 507, 518; see also

Davenport v. Washington Education Assoc. (2007) 551 U.S. 177.)
Rec~ntly,

the Court has been critical of public sector agency shop arrangements, but

has specifically declined the opportunity to find them unconstitutional. In Diane Knox et al. v.

Service Employees International Union, Local 1000 (2012) 132 S.Ct. 2277 (Knox), the Court
held unlawful a union's special assessment of increased agency fees during a statewide

p~isan election without having issued a second Hudson 11 notice to non-me~ber fee payers.
The Court noted that the "primary" purpose of permitting public sector unions to compel fees
from non-members is to prevent non-memb~rs from ''free-riding" on the union's efforts; thus
benefitting from those efforts without sharing the costs, and that the justification for such a
scheme is the promotion of "labor peace," which is an "anomaly" in the context of First
Amendment analysis. (Knox, supra, 132 S.Ct at pp. 2289-2290.) The Court recognized that
such compelled speech and association

is a significant impingement on First Amendment

rights: "Our cases to date have tolerated this 'impingement,' and we do not revisit today
whether the Court's former cases .have given adequate recognition
. to the critical First

Amendment rights at stake." (Id. at p, 2289, italics in original; underscore added.)
In Pamela Harris, et al. v. Pat Quinn, Governor of Illinois, et al. (2014) 134 S.Ct. 2618

(Harris), the Court found that in-home support service providers were not public employees.
within the meaning of the Illinois public-sector collective bargaining statute, and therefore, ·
non-members could riot be compelled to remit fees to the union. Building on reservations
expressed in the Knox case regarding adequate First Amendment protections, the Court in

· Harris was sharply critical of Abood and subsequent cases permitting agency shop
11

Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson (1986) 475 U.S. 292, 302-311 (Hudson) sets
forth requirements that a public employee union must meet in order to collect regular fees from
non-members without violating their rights.
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arrangements in public sector employment. (Harris, supra, 134 S.Ct at pp. 2630-2634.)
However, the Court in Harris specifically declined to extend Abood to the employees at issue
based upon its findings over their employment status, and thus refused to reach the issue of
whether Abood should be overturned: "It is therefore unnecessary for us to reach petitioners'
argument that Abood should be overruled, and the dissent's extended discussion of stare

decisis is beside the point." (Harris, supra, 134 S.Ct at p. 2638, fn. 19; italics in original.)
The Court's typical focus when reviewing agency shop agreements on constitutional·
grounds is the purpose to which the compulsory dues are put. The facts of this case do not
raise any concern regarding the nature of the Association's expenses as being either chargeable
to collective bargaining purposes or non-chargeable because of political uses. Accordingly,
the District's First Amendment concerns·are misplaced. 12 Moreover, the District's argument
that Knox prohibits the agency shop arrangement at issue here is entirely unsupported. Neither

Knox nor Harris stand for the proposition that public agency shop arrangements in public
sector employment are unconstitutional. Rather, the holdings in those cases are limited to the
specific facts before the Court in each of them regarding special fee assessments without
proper notice and the type of employees subjected to public sector collective bargaining laws.
Neither case made even remote reference to the issue presented here regarding an agency shop·
applying only to future h~res. Therefore, they have no impact.on this analysis. The District's
First Amendment arguments are accordingly rejected.

12

Additionally, as seen in each case discussed herein, such concerns are properly raised
by employees subject to the fees, not by employers. The District has presented no authority
suggesting· that it has standing to mount a First Amendment challenge on behalf of its
employees.
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B. The Definition of Agency Shop Is Inclusive
The District argues that the statutory definition of an agency shop agreement requires
that all the members of a particular bargaining unit either become union members or pay their
fair share. In the present case, where the Association seeks to exclude certain bargaining unit
members from the requirement to either become a member of the Association or pay a. fair
share fee, the District argues that the arrangement no longer fits the description of an ''agency
fee" paradigm. The District notes that the purpos·e of an agency shop is to prevent "free
..

riders." Thus, exempting a class of employees from payment of agency fees defeats the
purpose of section 3502.5 and results in a nullity.
Agency shop agreements in the public sector are the "practical equivalent'' of union
shop agreements in the private sector. (Rae v. Bay Area Rapid Transit Supervisory and

Professional Assn., supra, 114 Cal.App.3d 147, 153.) In the public sector, union membership
is not a condition of employment, i'but all employees, including those who do not choose to
join the union, must pay union dues." (City of Hayward v. United Public Employees, Local

390, SEIU, supra, 54 Cal.App.3d 761, 764.) As acknowledged by the National Labor
Relations Board (NLRB), "Congress' intent in amending section 8(a)(3)

wast~

outlaw the

closed shop while preserving union shops and lesser forms of union security, [however]
congress never specified what 'union shop' meant." (International Union of Electronic,

Electrical, Salaried, Machine and Furniture Workers, etc. (1993) 311 NLRB 1031, 1036.)
The District has provided some of the legislative hisfory of section 3502.5 for the
purpose of demonstrating that the concept of an "agency fee arrangement" has a fixed meaning
that describes the situation in which all the members of a bargaining unit are required to either
join the union or pay a fair share fee.

Th~

analysis of Assembly Bill 1693 sets forth this

definition of agency shop: "as a condition of continued employment, the employee must either ·
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join the recognized employee organization, or pay the organization a service fee, as specified."
(Assem. Com. on Public Employees and Retirement, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 1693 (Reg.
Sess. 1981-1982), p. 2.) The District also points out that the governor's press release upon
signing Assembly Bill 1693 noted that among other things, the bill required all employees to
pay their fair share toward the cost of bargaining. But the narrow glimpse of the legislative
history of the State's 1981 adoption of agency shop arrangements shows only a small portion
of a rich labor history in both the public and private sector endorsing many different forms of
union security agreements. PERB cannot arrive at a proper interpretation of the MMBA
without consideration of the statutes that were enacted before it and upon which much of its
language is based.
Union security agreements have been permitted in one form or another since the earliest
iterations of the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA). In its 1935 enactment of the Wagner
Act, 13 ~ 1 congress specifically preserved the 'closed.shop' agreement by appending the
following proviso to Section 8, subdivision (3):
Provided, that nothing in this subchapter, or in any other statute
of the United States, shall preclude an employer from making an
agreement with a labor organization ... to require as a condition
of employment members.hip therein ... if such labor organization
is the representative of the employees. . .
·

(International Union of Electronic, Electrical, Salaried, Machine and Furniture Wor:kers, etc.,
supra, 311NLRB1031, 1033.)
In 1947, Congress amended the NLRA with the Taft-Hartley Act. 14 Section 8,

subdivision (3) was renumbered to section 8, subdivision (a)(3), and amended to: "(1)
eliminate the closed shop; (2) preserve the union shop and lesser forms of union security;

'

13

49 Stat. 449 (1935), 29 U.S.C., §§151-169 (1994).

14

29 u.s.c., §§ 141-144, 167. 172-187 (1947).
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provided however, that (3) 'expulsion from a union [could. not] be a ground for compulsory
discharge ifthe worker [was] not delinquentin paying his initiation fees or dues."' (Id. at
1034.)

Shortly after the Taft-Hartley Act became law, the Supreme Court acknowledged,
One of the oldest techniques in the art of collective bargaining is
the closed shop. It protects the integrity of the union and
provides stability of labor relations. To achieve stability of labor
relations was the primary objective of Congress in enacting the
NLRA. Congress knew that a closed shop would interfere with
freedom of employees to organize in another union and would, if
used, lead inevitably to discrimination in tenure of employment.
Nevertheless, with full realization that there was limitation by the
proviso of §8(3) upon the freedom of §7, Congress inserted the
proviso of §8(3).

(Colgate-Palmolive-Peet Co. v. NLRB (1949) 338 U.S. 355, 362-363.)
Thus, from the NLRA's early history, we learn that
[t]he proviso to Section 8(3) was intended to be permissive and
not exclusive in character; It does not appear to have been the
intent of Congress to select only a particular type of union
security agreement to: be exempted from the operation of the Act.
On the contrary, it is reasonable to infer that any agreement 'as
might now be legally consummated' [i.e., exclusive of the type of
domination and assistance proscribed in the Act] was immunized
by the terms of the proviso.

(Public Service Company of Colorado (1950) 89 NLRB 418,423, emphasis in original.)
.
In The Steel Products Engineering Company (1.956) 116 NLRB 811, 812 the NLRB
held unlawful a modified union security clause that stated:
All new employees, eligible for membership in the Union, shall
become and remain, as a condition of continued employment,
members of the Union in good standing for the remaining life of
this agreement, except that any member of the Union may resign
his or her membership therein during the period of fifteen (15)
days next preceding each anniversary of the effective date of this
agreement (November 23) by giving written notice to the
Company and the Union within such :fifteen (15) day period that
they elect not to belong to the Union.
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The rationale for the NLRB' s decision was not that the modified union shop agreement
required only new employees to become members, but that the required 30~day notice period
was not provided to new employees prior to enforcing the requirement. (Id. at p. 813.)
Based on the NLRB' s interpretation of the NLRA, union shop agreements do not have a
fixed meaning under the statute, · Rather, the statutory endorsement of union shop agreements
provides for the maximum permissible degree of interference with an employee's freedom to
join or refrain from joining a particular union, but includes lesser forms of union security as
well.
As the agency shop is the public sector equivalent of the union shop (s~e Abood v.

Detroit Bd. ofEd., supra, 431 U.S. 209 and Rae v. Bay Area Rapid Transit Supervisory and
Professiona/Assn., supra, 114 Cal.App.3d 147), it may also reasonably be inferred that the
California Legislature, by endorsing agency shop agreements, endorsed and adopted the
maximum permissible infringement on the employees' rights to refrain from participating in
the activities of the union. Nothing in the language of sectio~ 3502.5 expressly disallows the
type of agency shop sought in this case. Accordingly, I find no legal impediment to the
Association's proposed modified agency shop arrangement whereby only newly hired
employees are subject to a fair share fee requirement.
C. The District is Adequately Protected From Potential Liability Over Agency Fees
At first blush, the district's opposition to the proposed modified agency shop
arrangement appears to be defensive-it claims that its concern is motivated by a desire to
avoid being made complicit in the Association's allegedly unlawful scheme to differentiate
between groups of employees to include in or exclude from a modified agency shop
arrangement. However, preserving a right is distinguishable from affirmatively asserting a
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right. (El Centro School District (1996) PERB Decision No. 1154.) The District's claim that
it sought to avoid being made complicit in an illegal dues retention scheme is unpersuasive
given that the District took no steps to present this claim to PERB in a timely manner by filing
an unfair practice charge alleging the same pursuant to PERB Regulation 32604, subdivision
(a).

The District also raises the concern that the Association would lack the financial means
necessary to indemnify the District against claims filed by employees if it is permitted to
impose a modified agency shop arrangement. The Board in Fresno Unified School District
(1982) PERB Decision No. 208 (Fresno) explained the limits of an employer's reasonable
concerns regarding agency fees:
Agency fees, like membership dues, are a matter of internal
organizational policy and concern. The employer's interest in the
subject generally is limited to its willingness to impose on its
non-union employees an agency fee requirement and, if so,
whether an authorization election is desirable. It is through the
exercis.e of these two "powers" that the employer's concerns can
be satisfied.
·
However, we find a third and implied employer concern which
derives from [Abood, supra, 431 U.S. 209] and [King City High
School District Association, CTAINEA; King City Joint [/nion
High School District; et al. (Cumero) (1982) PERB Decision
No. 197]. We consider the employer to have a legitimate interest
in protecting itself from potential liability resulting .from its
agreement to withhold agency fees in excess of those permitted
by law. But this concern limits the employer's interest in
negotiations to seeking some provision which provides it with
protection from potential liability.
(Id. at p. 21.)

As .to the third employer concern raised above, and as previously noted herein, when
the Fresno case was decided, BERA section 3546 provided that an agency shop provision
could be negotiated between the employer and union. During those negotiations, the employer
29

could sever that provision from the rest of the contract and call for employees to vote over the
. issue.

15

That section of BERA did not, however, contain a hold-harmless provision as is

specifically set forth in section 3502.5, subdivision (b). 16 The District here essentially argues
that such.statutory protection is inadequate to protect its financial interests in the event of
litigation over agency fees by employee~. Notwithstanding that·concerns.as to the
Association's financial means now or in the future are completely speculative, the statute ·
.
.
specifically indemnifies the employer from liability. ·If negotiation of a contractual
indemnification clause was deemed adequate to protect the employer's interest in that regard,
then a statutory provision that does so is certainly adequate protection. PERB has no power or
authority to address the District's concern that this statutory protection lacks p;ractical force.
Such an is~ue could only be properly addressed by the Legislature.
D. The District May Not Assert The Rights of Third Parties
The District's arguments appear to voice concerns on behalf of those employees who
would be required to pay agency. fees under the proposed modified agency shop arrangement.
For example, the District emphasizes that the core purpose of agency shop in preventing free
riders by requiring non-members to pay their fair share of the costs associated with
administering a collective bargaining agreement is lost where existing employees are permitted
to free ride. The District argues that agency shops stemmed from a concern over the union's
discharge of its duty of fair representation. Thus, an agency shop cannot be discriminatory in
its application and apply only to new employees, or it would violate the First Amendment and
15

In contrast, section 3502.5, subdivision (b), empowers only an employee organization
to call for an employee vote over the subject of agency shop. Thus, in considering the first two
employer concerns raised in the Fresno case under the MMBA scheme, the employer's
"powers" are limited to discretion over whether to agree to a negotiated agency fee provision
and some input over the choice of a neutral entity to conduct the agency shop election. ·
16

BERA section 3546, subdivision (e), currently contains a hold-harmless provision.
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section 3 502. 5. This is so, accorqing to the District, since the intent of these provisions is to
prevent free riders since the union is required to fairly represent all employees in the
bargaining unit.
It is true, as the District suggests, that the real benefit of an agency shop agreement is
felt by the union members who no longer must bear the cost of representation of bargaining

unit members who partake in the fruits of the union's labor but 4o .not pay union dues.
But PERB's treatment of agency fee challenges is clear-only an employee who pays an
agency fee may challenge the union's retention of that fee. (California Nurses Association
(O'Malley) (2004) PERB Decision No, 1607~H (CNA-0 'Malley); see also, Fresno, supra,

PERB Decision 208 at p. 21 for the general recitation of legitimate concerns by the employer
regarding agency fees.) Thus, the District lacks standing to assert fee payers' rights.
Likewise, any injury to employees who are forced to pay more than their fair share by an
agency shop arrangement that exempts some bargaining unit employees is not an injury that is
shared by the District. 17
Thus, to the extent that the District intends to assert the rights of current or future
employees who would be required to pay an agency fee under the proposed modified agency
shop arrangement, this argument must be dismissed for lack of standing. (CNA-O'Malley,

supra, PERB

D~cision

No. 1607-H.)

Based upon all the foregoing, I find that the District violated section 3502.5 of the when
it refused to participate in a properly petitioned-for agency shop election and that it has failed
to assert a valid defense to its actions.

17

The District also argues that the agency shop provision sought in this case would
render meaningless the agency shop repeal process in section 3502.5, subdivision (d). Again,
this section of the Act does not involve rights of the employer, and therefore, the District lacks
standing to assert them.
31

REMEDY
MMBA section 3509, subdivision.(b), authorizes PERB to order ''the appropriate
remedy necessary to effectuate the purposes of this chapter." (Omnitrans (2010) PERB
Decision No. 2143-M.) This includes ·an order to cease and desist from conduct that violates
the MMBA. (City ofTorrance (2008) PERB Decision No. 1971-M.)
A properly designed remedial order seeks a restoration of the situation as nearly as
possible to that which would have obtained but for the unfair labor p~acti?e· (Modesto City

Schools (1983) PERB Decision No. 291.) In this case, the Association has properly petitioned
for an agency shop election and is entitled to the District's good faith participation in that
process. The order in this case is intended to return the parties to the point in time at which the
petition was filed with SMCS, in order that the District and the Association may either agree to
the terms of a CEA or authorize SMCS to establish the terms of a CEA, t.o which the parties
must comply.
It is also appropriate to order the District to post a notice incorporating the terms of this

order at all locations where· notices to unit employees are usually posted. Posting of such a
notice, signed by an authorized representative of the District, provides employees with notice
that the District acted in an unlawful manner, must cease and desist from its illegal action, and
will comply with the order. In addition to physical posting of paper notices, the notice shall be
posted by electronic message, intranet, internet site, and other electronic means customarily
used by the District to communicate with its employees in the bargaining unit represented by
Local 521. (City ofSacramento (2013) PERB Decision No. 2351-M.) It effectuates the
purposes of the MMBA to inform employees of the resoiution of this controversy. (Omnitrans,

supra, PERB Decision No. 2143-M.)
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PROPOSED ORDER
Upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, and the entire record in the
case, it is found that the Orange County Water District (District) violated the Meyer~Milias~
Brown Act (Act), Government Code section 3502.5. The District violated the Act by refusing
to participate in good faith in a properly petitioned~for agency fee election.
·Pursuant to section 3509 of the Government Code, it hereby is. ORDERED that the
District, its governing board and its representatives shall:
A.

CEASE AND DESIST FROM:
1.

B.

Refusing to participate in an agency shop election.

TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTIONS DESIGNED TO
EFFECTUATE. THE POLICIES OF THE ACT:
1.

Within ten (10) workdays of the service of a final decision in this matter,

either enter into a consent election agreement with the Orange County Water District
Employees Association or authorize the California· State Mediation and Conciliation Service to
prepare a consent election agreement governing the mechanics of an agency
2.

s~op

election.

Provide to the California State Mediation and Conciliation Service any

documentation deemed by that organization to be necessary for the conduct of an agency shop
election, pursuant to PERB Regulation 32999 et seq., including but not limited to a list of
names of all employees included in the voting unit as of the cutoff date for voter eligibility.
(See PERB Regulation 33004.)
3.

Within ten (10) workdays of the service of a final decision in this matter,

post at all work locations where notices to employees in the Orange County Water District
Employees Association customarily are posted, copies of the Notice attached hereto as an
Appendix. The Notice must be signed by an authorized agent of the Orange County Water
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District, indicating that it will comply with the terms of this Order. Such posting shall be
maintained for a period of thirty (30) consecutive workdays. Reasonable steps shall be taken
to ensure that the Notice is not reduced in size, altered, defaced or covered with any other
material. In addition to physical posting of paper notices, the Notice shall be posted by
electronic message, intranet, internet site, and other electronic means customarily used by the ,
District to communicate with its eiµployees in the bargaining unit represented by the
Association.
4.

Written notification of the actions taken to comply with this Order shall

be made to the General Counsel of the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB or Board),
or the General Counsel's designee. Respondent shall provide reports, in writing, as directed by
the General Counsel or his/her designee. All reports regarding compliance with this Order
shall be concurrently served on the Orange County Water District Employees Association and
the California State Mediation and Conciliation Service.
Right to Appeal
Pursuant to California Code of Regulations, title 8, section 32305, this Proposed Decision
l

and Order shall become final unless a party files a statement of exceptions with the Public
Employment Relations Board (PERB or Board) itself within 20 days of service of this Decision.
The Board's address is:
Public Employment Relations Board
Attention: Appeals Assistant
1031 18th Street
Sacramento, CA 95811-4124
(916) 322-8231 .
FAX: (916) 327-7960
E-FILE: PERBe-file.Appeals@perb.ca.gov
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In accordance with PERB regulations, the statement of exceptions should identify by
page citation or exhibit number the portions of the record, if any, relied upon for such
exceptions. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 32300.)
A document is considered Hfiled" when actually received during a regular PERB business

day. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 32135, subd. (a) and 32130; see also Gov. Code,§ 11020, subd.
(a).) A document is also ·considered "filed" when received by facsimile transmiss~on before the

close of business together with a Facsimile Transmission Cover Sheet or received by electronic
mail before the close of business, which meets the requirements of PERB Regulation 32135(d),
provided the filing party also places the original, together with the required number of copies and
proof of service, in the U.S. mail. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 32135, subds. (b), (c) and (d); see
also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 32090, 32091 and 32130.)
Any statement of exceptions and supporting brief must be served c·oncurrently with its

filing upon each party to this proceeding. Proof of service shall accompany each copy served
on a party or filed with the Board itself. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 32300, 32305, 32140,
and 32135, subd. (c).)
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APPENDIX
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the State of California
After a hearing in Unfair Practice Case No. LA-CE-856-M, Orange County Water
District Employees AssociatiOn v. Orange County Water District, in which all parties had the
right to participate, it has been found that the Orange County Water District (District) violated
the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (MMBA), Government Code section 3500 et seq. by failing and
refusing to participate in good faith in a properly petitioned-for agency fee election by the
Orange County Water District Employees Association (Association).
As a result of this conduct, we have been ordered to post this Notice and we will:
A.

CEASE AND DESIST FROM:
1.

B.

Refusing to participate in properly petitioned-for agency fee elections.

TAKE THE FOLLOWING AFFIRMATIVE ACTIONS DESIGNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLICIES OF THE MMBA:

1.
Within ten (10) workdays of the service of final decision in this matter,
either enter into a consent election agreement with the Association or authorize the California
State Mediation and Conciliation Service to prepare a consent election agreement governing
the mechanics of an agency shop election.
2. · - Provide to the California State Mediation and Conciliation Service any
documentation deemed by the organization to be necessary for the conduct of an agency shop
election, pursuant to PERB Regulation 32999 et seq., including but not limited to a list of
names of all employees including in the voting unit as of the· cutoff date for voter eligibility.
(See .PERB Regulation 33004.)

ORANGE COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

Authorized Agent

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE. IT MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR AT LEAST THIRTY
(30) CONSECUTIVE WORKDAYS FROM THE DATE OF POSTING AND MUST NOT BE
REDUCED IN SIZE, DEFACED, ALTERED OR COVERED WITH ANY OTHER
MATERIAL.

